Central European University (CEU) Institut Barcelona d'Estudis Internacionals (IBEI) Erasmus Mundus Master of Arts in Public Policy (Mundus MAPP)

Academic Cohort 2016-2018



Rapid buses, rapid opinions A frame analysis of the media coverage surrounding bus rapid transit (BRT) systems in Bogotá, Colombia and Jakarta, Indonesia

Dissertation submitted by

Benjamin Jance IV

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Erasmus Mundus Master of Arts in Public Policy

> Supervisors: Dr. Thilo Bodenstein (2018) Dr. Achim Kemmerling (2016-2017) Dr. Pablo Pareja (2017-2018)

> > Submitted 15 July 2018

ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE

I hereby certify that this dissertation contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text.

I hereby grant to Central European University, Institut Barcelona d'Estudis Internacionals, and the Mundus MAPP Consortium the non-exclusive license to archive and make accessible my dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this dissertation.

Name: Benjamin Jance IV

Signature:

Location and Date: Barcelona, Spain 15 July 2018

Word count: 13,196

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

To Achim, Pablo, and Thilo, who saw solutions to every challenge, placed their support at every turn, and instilled a greater appreciation for research throughout the thesis writing process.

To Mom, Dad, Barbara, and Benjo, who support my passion for sustainable urban development without question and have always had my back from the first day.

To Anna, whose love, faith, and steadfast spirit were crucial to both my sanity and the completion of this work.

To Michele and Anna, for taking on the two-year struggle together (with breaks for movies in between).

To all urban citizens looking to make the spaces within which they live a better place - for all.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE	ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
ABSTRACT	V
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. THE NEED FOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT	2
2.1. On selecting TransMilenio	4
2.2. On selecting TransJakarta	5
3. THE NEED FOR FRAME ANALYSIS	6
4. HYPOTHESES AND METHODOLOGY	9
5. THE IMPLICATIONS OF IDENTIFIED FRAMES IN THE BRT DEBATE	12
6. RESULTS	13
7. TRANSMILENIO: DISLIKED AT HOME, PRAISED ABROAD	14
7.1 Domestic coverage: few benefits, many risks	14
7.2. International coverage: more benefits, mitigated risks	15
8. TRANSJAKARTA: MORE POSITIVE FRAMES	16
8.1. Domestic coverage	16
8.2. International coverage	17
9. DISCUSSION: BROADER TRENDS AND IMPLICATIONS	18
10. LIMITATIONS	19
11. CONCLUSION	20
12. REFERENCES	23
ANNEX A: Table 1	40
ANNEX B: Table 2	43
ANNEX C: Thesis Report	47

ABSTRACT

Bus rapid transit (BRT) systems are a popular form of urban transportation that can reduce congestion, are cost-efficient, can mitigate climate change via its high capacity busloads, and increase road efficiency (King, 2013; C40 Cities, 2016). However, the literature does little to evaluate those claims from a dialogue-based perspective, with subject-matter expert claims and policymaker testimonies acting as proxies. In response to this gap, this paper conducts a frame analysis of 150 news media articles from 2013-2015 covering two of the most popular BRT systems in operation: Bogotá's TransMilenio and Jakarta's TransJakarta. Using Entman's (1993) four-pronged approach, this paper unveils the existence of unintended negative risks to BRT systems, significant framing differences between domestic and international coverage, and the emergence of a broader sociological context within which BRT operates. The findings carry key consequences for policymakers, especially those based in urban spaces situated within developing country contexts. In the interest of finding a middle-ground between cost and transport efficiency, this paper highlights incentives for policymakers to understand and address emerging news media frames in the pursuit of successful BRT systems.

1. INTRODUCTION

The growth of bus rapid transit (BRT) systems in cities around the world is testament to what its backers claim are advantages of cost-efficiency, travel time cuts, carbon dioxide (CO₂) and volatile organic compound (VOC) emissions reductions, and increased road safety, among others (Cervero, 1998 in Wheeler and Beatley, 2009; Wright, 2003 in Fjellstrom, 2003; Rodríguez and Targa, 2003; Kennedy et al., 2009; Wheeler and Beatley, 2009; Deng and Nelson, 2011; Cervero and Kang, 2011; King, 2013; C40 Cities, 2016). As momentum has grown and its benefits become clearer, today 167 cities have some form of BRT installed within their limits, whether as fragmented corridors or as complete systems (BRTData.org, 2018b).

TransMilenio, the BRT system installed in Bogotá, Colombia, and TransJakarta of Jakarta, Indonesia are two of the more matured, well-documented system operators in the world today (C40 Cities, 2011; C40 Cities, 2012). TransMilenio, which opened in late 2000, now ferries more than 2 million passengers per day on a 113km-long network: approximately 11% of the total BRT ridership in all of Latin America (BRTData.org, 2018a). TransJakarta, meanwhile, transports upwards of 370,000 passengers per day on a 207km-long network, which is the largest of any BRT system in the world (BRTData.org, 2018c). With similar population densities and similarly matured BRT systems, both cities are ideal for a comparative case study that investigates the extent to which the heralded advantages of BRT are reflected in both domestic and international news media reports.

Faced with contemporary challenges like congestion, cost constraints, and high population densities, policymakers in cities like Bogotá and Jakarta are faced with new problems that require innovative policy solutions like BRT (Wheeler and Beatley, 2009). Through BRT, lawmakers are directly influencing the institutions and cultures that their constituents experience within the urban realm, from both resource-based (e.g. via the provision of buses) and rhetorics-based (e.g. the way in which BRT is framed and advertised) perspectives (Hajer and Laws, 2006; Ingram et al., 2007). Participation in BRT for citizens of Bogotá and Jakarta, therefore, is affected by the rules put forward by local government, the way in which the systems are framed for potential users, user capacity and preferences, and their real-world experiences of the respective systems (Hajer and Laws, 2006; Ingram and Schneider, 2006; Ingram et al., 2007). Transmunicipal collaboration networks (TCNs) like the C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group (C40 Cities) have also emerged as key distributors of information frames regarding BRT systems on a global scale; they distill the technical jargon of system designers into results-driven policy options that lawmakers can comprehend (Román, 2010; Lee and Koski, 2014; Keil and Whitehead, 2015). As a result, existing policy solutions to urban congestion, cost constraints, and rising population density - like BRT - have become collaborative efforts, with local governments, system operators, and TCNs coming together to make the benefits of TransMilenio, TransJakarta, and other BRT systems more accessible and feasible for other cities around the world.

However, while TCNs like C40 Cities, their partner local governments, and BRT system suppliers are quick to tout the multifaceted benefits of high-capacity buses with dedicated rights-of-way, I investigate the extent to which TransMilenio and TransJakarta have lived up to their expectations in the written discourse of their daily news media critics. As the news media can often employ a critical eye towards policy solutions like BRT systems, their reflections on the daily performance of TransMilenio and TransJakarta can shed light on an aspect of the extent to which policymakers can call BRT a success in both cities. To do so, I employ a frame analysis of 150 news media articles: 50 from broadsheet newspaper outlets in Bogotá, another 50 from broadsheet newspaper outlets in Jakarta, and another 50 from international outlets - all of which pertain to one or both of the BRT systems compared in this analysis. I examine distinctions in frames, if any, between bus rapid transit as-advertised and its reflections within news articles for the years 2013-2015, and draw conclusions that highlight the need for further review of BRT performance as a policy solution for congestion, cost-efficient transport, climate change mitigation, and increased road efficiency.

Schön and Rein (1994), Rein and Schön (1996), and Hajer and Laws (2006) suggest that the difference between status quo stability and change within a given policy domain is explained in part by the corresponding strength and stability of the public's perception of facts, values, and fiction. If the gap between these three nodes of knowledge vis-à-vis TransMilenio and TransJakarta is minimal, both local governments can remain relatively comfortable acting within the status quo. However, should the gap be deemed significantly large enough to an extent where the policy domain of urban transport - and more specifically, the use of BRT systems - in Bogotá and Jakarta could be challenged, then policymakers and their partner stakeholders ought to reflect on dissonance between the frames they present and those reported on by their news media counterparts.

2. THE NEED FOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT

BRT, the form of transportation that features exclusive above-surface roadspace to buses that lets them operate similarly to train services but at reduced costs, have been and continue to be adopted into the urban development plans of cities around the world (Cervero, 1998 in Wheeler and Beatley, 2009; Wright, 2003 in Fjellstrom, 2003; Rodríguez and Targa, 2003; Kennedy et al., 2009; Wheeler and Beatley, 2009; Deng and Nelson, 2011; Cervero and Kang, 2011). According to the Institute for Transportation & Development Policy (ITDP)¹, BRT corridors must feature five basic characteristics:

- A dedicated right-of-way that removes buses from the path of impeding traffic;
- Alignment of the busway with other traffic in order to minimize conflicts;
- Collection of fares off-board to reduce total travel time;

¹ ITDP shares direct transport and planning expertise with local government representatives on a global scale. Its core program areas include climate and transport policy, cycling and walking, outreach and awareness, public transport, sustainable urban development, and traffic reduction.

- Measures to increase bus speeds at intersections to further reduce total travel time, and
- Platform-level boarding, where the bus floor and boarding platforms are level in order to increase efficiency, passenger safety, and comfort (ITDP, 2018).

BRT was developed as a direct response to congestion and the need for more efficient modes of transportation, particularly in densely populated areas that are characteristic of developing countries. Out of the 167 cities featuring BRT systems listed on the Global BRT Database², 87, or roughly 50% of the total, are situated in countries with a GDP per capita below USD\$10,000.00 (BRTData.org, 2018). A further eleven of these cities are featured among the Global BRT Database's 20 most densely populated urban areas per square kilometer. While BRT systems also exist in key cities within developed countries, their uptake amongst their developing country counterparts continues to comprise a significant - and in some cases, growing - proportion of the global total (Cervero, 1998 in Wheeler and Beatley, 2009; Deng and Nelson, 2011; BRTData.org, 2018b).

Especially important for urban governments situated in developing countries is its perceived cost-effectiveness when compared to building subway systems underground; Wright (2003, in Fjellstrom, 2003) documents that BRT systems were installed at a cost ranging from USD\$1-5.3 million per kilometer, whereas train-dependent metro operations below surface-level cost anywhere between USD\$65-207 million per kilometer. At the intersection of traditional bus routes that are integrated into existing traffic roadways and their faster subway counterparts, BRT offers a feasible middle-ground between the two on the levels of both cost and efficiency. The attractiveness of BRT is further helped on by the reluctance of international financial organizations like the World Bank to initiate lending schemes for new metro projects due to their view of heavy rail systems as 'cost-ineffective' (Cervero, 1998 in Wheeler and Beatley, 2009). For capital-strapped local governments that are struggling to cover the costs of other basic needs for their constituents, BRT has become an especially attractive alternative for a public form of transport that has the potential to reduce costs and travel times simultaneously.

According to city planners and backers of the system, the objective of BRT - in the broader attempt to reduce growing congestion and travel times - was to move people, rather than the cars they drove, faster (Wright, 2003 in Fjellstrom, 2003). Speed is consistently among the principal benefits of BRT in the face of longer travel times given congestion and overuse of roads (Levinson et al., 2002; Wright, 2003 in Fjellstrom, 2003; King, 2013). With dedicated corridors and cleared pathways without the impediment of traffic, buses within a BRT system arrangement are able to depart from and arrive at their destinations in a much quicker fashion.

² BRTData.org is an actively-populated database of information on bus rapid transit systems worldwide hosted by the BRT+ Centre of Excellence and maintained in collaboration with its members, the Institute for Transportation & Development Policy (ITDP), and the World Resources Institute (WRI) Ross Center for Sustainable Cities.

BRT has also come to represent a friendly face in the fight against climate change, as cities implement these systems in attempts to reduce CO_2 and VOC emissions (King, 2013; C40 Cities, 2016). With drastic reductions in the number of vehicle kilometers travelled (VKT) within cities by allowing up to 160 passengers at a single time depending on the size of the bus, the opportunity cost that would have been otherwise imposed on emissions output is significantly reduced (King, 2013; C40 Cities, 2016). It is the high capacity of buses employed on BRT systems that drives the majority of emissions reduction, by foregoing the addition of other vehicles for citizens living in different districts of relatively large cities like Bogotá and Jakarta. And while buses have long been noted for their status as high-emitting vehicles relative to their more efficient counterparts on the road (Bond et al., 2004), their high capacity can negate those effects. King (2013) and C40 Cities (2016) also highlight the manufacture and uptake of newer-generation buses - including hybrid-fuel and hybridelectric variants - as another key element of the emissions reduction advantages inherent in the adoption of BRT systems.

Road safety is also a key element of the BRT system infrastructure (Cervero, 1998 in Wheeler and Beatley, 2009; Wright, 2003 in Fjellstrom, 2003). Dedicated platforms, rights-of-way, and consistent average speeds are a boon for road safety amongst BRT passengers, who can benefit from a service whose public backing can be heavily influenced by its perceived safety.

2.1. On selecting TransMilenio

Labelled by Cervero (2013) as the "gold standard," Bogotá's TransMilenio is widely-heralded as one of the industry's best examples of BRT implementation (Rodríguez and Targa, 2004; Hensher and Golob, 2008; Wheeler and Beatley, 2009). Wheeler and Beatley (2009) dub Bogotá a "city of innovation and inspiration" thanks to TransMilenio, where passenger travel times fell by as much as 33%, the number of accidents along its corridors came down by 84%, and facilitated Colombia's ability to trade greenhouse gas emissions credits on global carbon markets thanks to savings achieved through BRT. Wright (2009) touts features that were palpable in the system's early days: a 1% increase in public transit ridership within TransMilenio's first full calendar year of operation (2001) with just two out of a planned 22 corridors, which remains significant in the face of declining ridership in many cities. Both Hensher and Golob (2008) and Wright (2009) highlight the system's peak flow of 35,000 passengers per hour per direction, which they claim is comparable with heavy rail systems around the world and sets a new standard for BRT. 2013 data from BRTData.org indicates that peak flows have increased to top 48,000 passengers per hour per direction, which speaks further volumes of the system's uptake among citizens (2018a). Given its wide critical acclaim across the BRT literature and among policymakers and their advisors, TransMilenio represents a system that continues to be studied in ample amounts from the supply-side, but remains relatively understudied from a demandside perspective in which public opinion is more widely considered.

TransMilenio is also significant in terms of the role it plays both within the Colombian and the broader Latin American contexts. Serving a capital whose population density tips the scale at 3,347 people per square kilometer and situated within a country whose GDP per capita sits at USD\$5,806, TransMilenio ferries an impeccable 2.2 million passengers per day across 113km of dedicated corridors (BRTData.org, 2018a). Situated in the continental context, TransMilenio's daily passenger load represents almost 11% of the Latin American total. With such intensive use in a densely-populated city that is itself located among other densely-populated urban areas, TransMilenio faces ample opportunity for public scrutiny, especially under the eyes of an ever-critical press who, through their work, may shed light on aspects of the system that are seldom discussed within the existing literature.

Lastly, given TransMilenio's use as a model case study for students of urban development and prospective policymakers seeking cost-effective solutions to city-level congestion, the system stands as an ideal example for which media scrutiny can be investigated within a developing country context. Of the 42 countries on the BRTData.org list that feature cities with BRT systems, Colombia has the 11th-lowest GDP per capita (2018a). Bolstering the literature on BRT systems in developing country contexts - specifically in the field of frames used in news media portrayals - can help inform policymakers and researchers alike on further steps to take when considering BRT as a policy solution.

2.2. On selecting TransJakarta

Rising as an example of BRT implementation in times of increasing motorization and congestion, TransJakarta continues to gain momentum as a model - especially for neighboring cities in Asia (Deng and Nelson, 2011; C40 Cities, 2012; Cervero, 2013). Deng and Nelson (2011) report 2008 data showing peak flows of 3,200 passengers per hour per direction, with total ridership taking citizens away from their cars, motorcycles, and taxis. Since then, peak flow has increased to 3,600 passengers per hour per direction, and at 207km TransJakarta is the world's longest connected network of BRT corridors (BRTData.org, 2018c). Cervero (2013) notes that because BRT can be built in segments that don't require complete shutdown of roadways that will only intensify pre-existing congestion problems, TransJakarta was especially attractive for its host government as a solution that could be plausibly built in stages. Staging was not simply a convenience for mitigating congestion challenges during construction, but also provided cost cushioning as budgets were then impacted in corresponding stages. More than a traffic solution, TransJakarta represents a feasible and sustainable policy option for cash-strapped local governments - especially across the Asian continent - looking to ease urban congestion without breaking the bank.

Like its Colombian counterpart, TransJakarta's significance at the local level is amplified at the regional level, especially when compared to systems in other cities. Serving a metro area of 28 million people whose population density exceeds 3,800 people/km², Jakarta itself is a booming

megacity with key transport needs to ferry its citizens and visitors. With a GDP per capita of USD\$3,570 - more than USD\$2,000 lower than Colombia - Indonesians have an even greater need for cheap, yet efficient public transport (BRTData.org, 2018c). Jakarta comprises almost 13% of total BRT corridor kilometers and 4% of total ridership across the Asian continent. When controlling for China's massive BRT system investments totaling 672 kilometers across 20 cities, the Indonesian capital stands out for its single-city effort to curb congestion over time. As Deng and Nelson (2011), C40 Cities (2012) and Cervero (2013) highlight, TransJakarta's example is widely sought-after thanks to both its engineering ingenuity and its political feasibility as a policy solution to urban congestion.

In a similar vein to TransMilenio, TransJakarta is situated in a distinct developing country context. Comparing both systems under a unified frame analysis methodology could provide key insights for policymakers in similar contexts, and particularly for those in the process of or looking at building BRT corridors of their own. If revealed frames differ from the ones put forward by BRT supporters, then policymakers have great incentives to understand and adapt their systems in an effort to optimize them and preserve the favorability of BRT as a cost-efficient policy option.

3. THE NEED FOR FRAME ANALYSIS

Much of the existing literature on BRT systems - including TransMilenio and TransJakarta - focus on their engineering aspects, and whether or not they follow through on stated promises of shorter travel times, decreased congestion, and improved environmental quality, among others (Cervero, 1998 in Wheeler and Beatley, 2009; Levinson et al., 2002; Hensher and Golob, 2008; Wheeler and Beatley, 2009; Deng and Nelson, 2011). TCNs and think tanks often present BRT in constructive ways for policy-makers, offering guidebooks, sourcebooks, and general references which prospective cities can refer to for advice (Levinson et al., 2002; Wright, 2003 in Fjellstrom, 2003; Cervero, 2013; C40 Cities, 2016). Other branches of the BRT literature delve into system interactions with other aspects of urban planning and development, including land values (Cervero and Kang, 2011; Deng and Nelson, 2011) and transit-oriented development (Hensher and Golob, 2008; Deng and Nelson, 2011). Of notable omission is in-depth research on the news media's framing(s) of BRT systems, and whether or not such portrayals play a key role in furthering or hindering public support.

Frame analysis, according to authors who have written both seminal works and supporting research within the literature, focuses on the way in which language makes active and passive impacts on the consciences and actions of individuals and groups (Goffman, 1974; Snow et al., 1986; Entman, 1993; Hajer and Laws, 2006; Kuypers, 2010). Holding the assumption that the use of language is the "organizing framework" for which we can understand society, the way in which it is used is believed to have a direct effect on individual and group interpretations of real-world occurrences (Goffman, 1974; Hajer and Laws, 2006). As both Edelman (1993) and Entman (1993) argue, any perceivable phenomenon can be interpreted differently based on the characteristics that are displayed, repressed, and the way in which they are classified and described. Such interpretations, therefore, can lead to

differing opinions amongst a variety of stakeholders across the policy domain within which a particular phenomenon exists. In this particular case, the phenomenon is a BRT system - conceptualized through TransMilenio and TransJakarta - that sits within the broader policy domain of sustainable urban transport, which on its own is a subset of sustainable urban development.

Schön and Rein (1994), Rein and Schön (1996), and Hajer and Laws (2006) make the critical suggestion that a policy domain's susceptibility to stability or change depends - in part - on the corresponding strength and stability of the causal constituency's perception of facts, values, and fiction. As the contextualization of bus rapid transit and its examples in Bogotá and Jakarta show, governments that employ BRT systems and their partners in TCNs like C40 Cities have not been shy in unveiling the potential benefits that BRT can bring to a city and its citizens. Rhetoric of their kind is a clear attempt to persuade readers that their policy solution (BRT) to policy problems (congestion and long travel times, among other) is better than either the status quo or any other potential solution proffered (Kuypers and King, 2005; Kuypers, 2010). Benefits are often touted to as full an extent as possible on government press releases and distribution materials; shortcomings and critiques, however, are often left to the news media, everyday users, and academia. As Kuypers (2010) goes on to point out, criticism is done in the interest of promoting "greater appreciation and understanding" (p. 290). This reasoning in itself may be framed in a way that some may take more positively than the traditional connotation of 'criticism', but it is accurate insofar as the news media concerned. As news writers, they attempt to shed light on what isn't already being advertised; in this case, these are characteristics of BRT systems that governments and TCNs do not tout in their reports, policy briefs, and press releases. While the opinions and rhetoric of everyday users and academia are not to be taken lightly, this paper focuses expressly on the frames presented by the news media in Colombia, Indonesia, and the international level.

User exposure to news media articles - both in print and online - continues to influence the perceptions of phenomena in the real world. For reference, Colombia's *El Tiempo* remains the nation's largest newspaper with 980,000 print readers on a daily basis and more than 10 million unique visitors on its website per month (Innovation Media Consulting, 2016). It also retains the largest Twitter following across Latin America with 6.43 million followers, which speaks further volumes of its potential reach and influence on readers (Martinez, 2015). Indonesia, meanwhile, is home to daily newspaper *Kompas*, which sees a daily circulation of 530,000 copies in print (Miles33.com, 2013); its corresponding Twitter following exceeds 7 million users (Twitter, 2018). Given such figures for two publications alone, readership and visibility - should news articles regarding TransMilenio or TransJakarta appear on some of the largest daily newspapers and online news sources in Colombia, Indonesia, and abroad - are not an issue insofar as potential for reader influence is concerned. And regardless of a news media outlet's claim to be impartial or not, both the conscious and subconscious choices made in the editing process can prove influential to individuals reading articles, especially if such behavior is repeated over time (Entman, 1993; Kuypers, 2010). The consequences, therefore, are

critical: through their large print- and online-based followings, news media outlets have a nearunparalleled forum through which their rhetoric could - consciously or subconsciously - impact their readers' perceptions of BRT systems in Bogotá and Jakarta in a manner that is significantly different from the image drawn-up by government- and TCN-based proponents of systems like TransMilenio and TransJakarta.

While the literature on frame analysis and its application in social movement contexts is vast and growing, it is not without its critics. Oliver and Johnston (2000), for example, critique the frame analysis method as one that fails to capture the complexity embedded in the thought processes underlying social movements. Ideology, they claim, is far more profound and complex than the surface-level frames that researchers have come to analyze and present as critical to the social movements discourse. According to them, a more multifaceted approach to ideologies across a given population and its corresponding exposure to information, culture, and other potential intervening variables should be considered alongside the frame analysis approach. While frames are important, Oliver and Johnston call for a separation of frames from ideologies in order to better distinguish between characteristics of a given phenomenon that are being 'opposed', and those which are deeplyheld beliefs among a set of actors.

Benford (1997) highlights that framing itself has seldom been criticized, and that the terms 'framing', 'frame analysis', and 'frames' have turned into clichés. While recognizing the pivotal role that frames play in advancing research on the understanding of social movements, he notes that a "systematic neglect" of empirical efforts, descriptive biases, and static tendencies - among others - all play a role in undermining the frame analysis method. For example, Benford takes the time to list out a page full of different frames that have been studied or uncovered in the literature up until his time of writing (1997, p. 414-415). In doing so, he points out that while frames can and should play a role in the social movements literature, frames have thus far shown more 'description' than 'analysis'; hence the claim that frames have become a cliché.

Both Oliver and Johnston (2000) and Benford (1997) make valid critiques of frame analysis from conceptual and methodological perspectives, respectively. This paper, while not infallible from weakness and critique, addresses some of their concerns in key ways. First, while Oliver and Johnston (2000) appeal for a more nuanced analysis of ideologies rather than frames, I make no claims of comprehending underlying ideologies and their corresponding complexities unless explicitly stated. The analysis of news media pieces on TransMilenio and TransJakarta is exclusively placed under a framing perspective, intended to inform the literature on BRT system perceptions and, with enough luck, help provide a platform upon which further research can be undertaken. This further research can then include a more complex analysis of ideologies, or at least a subset thereof, which would begin the process of rectifying what Oliver and Johnston (2000) see as a clear gap in the social movements literature. Second, I address Benford's (1997) critiques by once again placing this study firmly within a frame analysis literature that complements the adjacent empirical studies on social movements,

especially those concerning BRT systems. While this paper will indeed be largely descriptive, I delve into an analysis of several news media articles to investigate the way in which BRT systems in both Bogotá and Jakarta are portrayed in an attempt breadth. Depth will be achieved, in part, by the particular methodology I employ under Entman's (1993) four-pronged approach, which is explained in further detail below. Moreover, providing a descriptive study is not inherently detrimental to the frame analysis literature; it helps form the basis upon which further study and in-depth can be performed. In sum, this paper makes no presumptuous claims about the ideologies of potential causal actors in the BRT systems debate; uses frame analysis in a way that properly identifies the nature and objectives of rhetoric according to the Entman (1993) approach; and helps provide the descriptive, news media-based foundation for further analytical research in the future.

4. HYPOTHESES AND METHODOLOGY

To what extent do news media articles at both the domestic and international levels reflect the frames presented by governments and TCNs who endorse the implementation of BRT systems as a policy solution to congestion, the need for cost-efficient transport, climate change mitigation, and road efficiency? This is the research question that this paper sets out to answer through a frame analysis of a total of 150 news media articles: 50 from broadsheet newspaper outlets in Bogotá, another 50 from broadsheet newspaper outlets in Jakarta, and another 50 from international outlets of varied kinds, ranging from radio stations to weekly magazines and broadsheet daily newspapers. The unit of analysis within this paper, following the lead of Matthes and Kohring (2008) and Matthes (2007), is the article. Having selected TransMilenio and TransJakarta as my compared cases, I examine articles from some of the largest news media publications in both Colombia and Indonesia, as well as notable international outlets who have all provided commentary on at least one aspect of the BRT systems in both capital cities - all of which have been authored between the years 2013-2015, inclusive. Opinion and editorial pieces may be included in the list of articles³. The 50 articles from local news sources and the 25 internationally-sourced articles on TransMilenio are sourced using the Google News function, with the time and date tool set to scan for pieces published between 01 January 2013 and 31 December 2015. The remaining 25 articles, which cover TransJakarta from the international media, are sourced from the LexisNexis academic database thanks to a shortage of results in the aforementioned Google News search. In answering the research question, I employ Entman's (1993) four-pronged approach to frame analysis to distinguish any distinctions in frames between the reports and news media articles - if any - and shed light on conclusions that focus on the need for further

 $^{^{3}}$ In their study, Matthes and Kohring (2008) do not analyze opinion pieces. I include those pieces in this paper because, despite not being subject to the same nature of editing as other, supposedly more 'multi-sided' pieces in the news sections of broadsheet newspapers, opinion pieces are nonetheless widely read by readers and may also contribute to the shaping of public opinion.

review of BRT performance as a policy solution for the stated problems of congestion, the need for cost-efficient transport, climate change mitigation, and road efficiency.

TCNs like C40 Cities (2016) present BRT systems as all-in-one solutions to the four problems stated above, each of which are defined and operationalized in specific ways. Congestion is defined as the state wherein the number of vehicles on a given roadway exceed its optimal carrying capacity; that is, when adding one more vehicle on the road does not significantly compromise the amount of space taken up by all other vehicles. The need for cost-efficient transport is embodied by the gulf in differences between traditional bus transport and the use of heavy rail; the former costs less but could remain inefficient at transporting people quickly from point A to point B, while the latter offers a much quicker transport option but at a much higher price (Wright, 2003 in Fjellstrom, 2003). Climate change mitigation is operationalized directly through carbon emissions and VOC emissions saved given the number of vehicles foregone as more citizens utilize public transport. The need for road efficiency, meanwhile, is a combination of different characteristics that contribute to faster, safer, and people-friendly roads. These characteristics include the minimization of accidents, injuries, and/or deaths, shorter travel times for BRT buses within their allotted corridors, adequate responses to local rush hour times where the supply of buses can meet passenger demand, and shorter 'dwell' times: the amount of time taken between the moment when passengers arrive on the boarding platform, and when they board a bus. Each of the four posed problems presents a unique challenge which, according to proponents like C40 Cities (2016) and Wright (2003 in Fjellstrom, 2003), is tackled at least in part through the installation and operation of BRT systems like TransMilenio and TransJakarta. Matthes and Kohring (2008) and David et al. (2011) explicitly list out each individual frame characteristic and frame before creating their own clusters of frames set-up for analysis. In this paper, I create the clusters of frame characteristics and larger frames during the data analysis process, using the categories, topics, and themes outlined in this paragraph.

With the research question and accompanying conceptualizations in mind, I put forward the following two hypotheses of the paper:

 H^{l} : The frames presented by news media articles at the domestic level differ significantly from those inherent in the supporting documents authored by governments and transmunicipal collaboration networks that espouse BRT as a policy solution.

 H^2 : Compared to domestic coverage, the frames presented by news media articles at the international level are more consistent with those inherent in the supporting documents authored by governments and transmunicipal collaboration networks that espouse BRT as a policy solution.

The most notable characteristic within this paper's hypotheses is present in the expected difference in framing between domestic and international news media outlets. Here, in the interest of bringing the 'bigger picture' to light and shedding more information in a holistic manner (Kuypers, 2010), I predict that local news media in cities that already have functioning BRT systems (e.g. Bogotá and Jakarta) will be more critical of those systems in an attempt to highlight areas for improvement. Conversely, and following Kuypers (2010), I predict that international news media, in the interest of proffering plausible solutions to urban development challenges like congestion, long travel times, and climate change, will portray frames that are more in line with those already presented by supporting governments and TCNs. I hypothesize that international news media outlets are more likely to espouse positive frames in an attempt to garner interest within audiences in cities that, as of yet, do not have operating BRT systems.

With both hypotheses in tow, the methodology through which this paper investigates and analyzes the frames present in news media articles should be elaborated upon. Robert Entman (1993) provides a definition of framing that simultaneously creates four measurable subcategories with which a descriptive analysis can be carried out:

To frame is to select some aspects of a perceived reality and make them more salient in a communicating text, in such a way as to promote a particular problem definition, causal interpretation, moral evaluation, and/or treatment recommendation for the item described. (Entman, 1993, p. 52)

Entman's four-pronged framework sees problem definition, which outlines the actions of the causal agent in terms of costs and benefits; causal interpretation, which seeks to diagnose the causes that the agent claims are behind a given problem; moral evaluation, which evaluates the effects of involved causal agents; and treatment recommendation, where causal agents offer their proposed solutions for the problem at hand (1993). Put together, all four provide a relatively holistic evaluation of a given article and the frames present therein. When combining hundreds of articles for each BRT system across both the local and international news media landscapes, Entman's (1993) frame analysis approach can help illuminate the problems, causes, moral rationales, and proposed solutions vis-à-vis the benefits that have been published by BRT supporters.

With this approach for frame identification in mind, I will code each news media article gathered according to each of the four potential frames: problem definition, causal interpretation, moral evaluation, and treatment recommendation. Sentences, phrases, and word choices within each article will be coded into one or more of the four frames above. While data will be separated according to the BRT system (e.g. TransMilenio vs. TransJakarta), the frame sets will be examined both individually and together, in order to pinpoint with a certain degree of accuracy the extent to which frames between the news media and BRT supporters differ. Conclusions on the framing of

TransMilenio and TransJakarta across their respective news media communities will be drawn based on the aggregated data resulting from the coding process. Due to time and resource constraints, this paper does not benefit from the use of multiple coding rounds by performed by multiple coders as seen in several frame analysis efforts that already exist (Matthes and Kohring, 2008; David et al., 2010). Instead, the author undertakes a meticulous coding process wherein the codes are deduced from the 150 news media articles analyzed, using the manual highlighting technique without the use of cluster qualitative analysis software (ex. NVivo or RQDA). The coding process involves the creation of binary figures for every identified topic, actor, attribution, benefit, and risk; a '1' is placed if the indicated variable is found within an article, and a '0' if otherwise. These binary figures are aggregated and both the mean and standard deviations are calculated to provide summary statistics on the frames present within articles across both domestic and international coverage for TransMilenio and TransJakarta.

Furthermore, where possible, articles have been translated from their original language of either Spanish or Indonesian into English using a version of Google Translate - a popular web-based translation application - that is built-into the web browsers used by the author: namely, Google Chrome and Safari. While there are obvious grammatical errors in some of the translations provided by the built-in application, any risks and biases of these mistakes are mitigated by the author's meticulous attention to details and use of context in the remainder of the article to formulate the article's original idea(s). Furthermore, the author's intermediate knowledge of Spanish is a further aid in interpreting the articles as regards TransMilenio that are written in the language - particularly those published by domestic Colombian press.

Lastly, as Kuypers (2010) notes, frame analysis is a qualitative exercise that focuses on interpretation. As a result, the researcher's subjectivity also plays a key role in the procedures, findings, and implications involved in a given study. Those subjectivities, alongside the rhetoric explicitly stated by actors surrounding TransMilenio and TransJakarta, are made explicit in this study to the best of the author's ability.

5. THE IMPLICATIONS OF IDENTIFIED FRAMES IN THE BRT DEBATE

As this paper has already referenced in part, frames can provide a normative-prescriptive story that informs readers of the way in which a problem is defined and the accompanying actions that both can and should be taken to mitigate it (Rein and Schön, 1996). With Schön and Rein (1994) and Hajer and Laws (2006) supporting this claim, the frames identified in this paper vis-á-vis the performance of both TransMilenio and TransJakarta can carry significant implications for their operation, maintenance, and evolution. Moreover, such implications may also be relevant for both BRT systems in other cities and public transport solutions in general that combat stated problems of a similar nature.

Given that governments invest a significant amount of resources into the installation and operation of BRT systems, they have a direct incentive to at least pay attention to the ways in which those systems are framed - both in the eyes of the news media at home and abroad. News media portrayals, influential as they are, could in turn affect the opinions and views that constituents, BRT users, and prospective BRT users have on BRT as a policy solution to the stated problems of congestion, and the need for cost-efficient transport, climate change mitigation, and road efficiency.

This paper helps lay the foundation for a body of research that focuses on the way the news media and the public perceive and communicate the characteristics of TransMilenio and TransJakarta. As policy domain stability is a key interest of relevant governments and their partners, attention to frames is the first half of the equation; the second comes with their ability to collect, process, and adapt to that information in the broader effort to deliver on BRT's stated benefits – especially for urban spaces in developing countries, who are arguably in most need of a system that reaches a middle-ground between cost and travel efficiency.

6. RESULTS

Table 1 (see Annex A) lists out the mean values and standard deviation for the frames present across the randomly-selected domestic and international coverage for TransMilenio; Table 2 (see Annex B) presents the same information for TransJakarta. Following Entman (1993) and Matthes and Kohring (2008), the table is split into four distinct sections: problem definition, causal interpretation, moral evaluation, and treatment recommendation. Problem definition features the topics and actors found in the sample; causal interpretation attributes benefits and risks to different actors based on the frames uncovered within the text; moral evaluation lists the benefits and risks of different variables vis-à-vis the chosen BRT system found throughout the sample; and treatment recommendation is a scaled, author-prescribed figure, rating overall judgment of the BRT system within the article on a scale of 1-7. The scale operationalizes the judgment of the extent to which the article is satisfied or dissatisfied with the given BRT system to merit policymaker action.

It is in the interest of external validity to incorporate variables whose themes are similar enough into a larger category of variable; in other words, creating codes that are mutually-exclusive (Matthes and Kohring, 2008; David et al., 2010). Because of the complexity of the BRT systems in both Bogotá and Jakarta, and in the interest of preserving the internal validity of the comparative case study, this paper does not feature results with mutually-exclusive codes and frames. Some variables may fit or intersect with others; this is exemplified by comparing the risks of 'mugging' and 'turnstile skipping' in Table 1, for example, which could arguably be filed under the solitary theme of 'security'. However, the nature of the security involved in both types of risks are distinct: turnstile skipping poses a risk to TransMilenio as perpetrators risk their lives crossing the street and operators lose money on those who board illegally, while mugging results in the loss of individuals' belongings while potentially endangering their health. Such differences are the reason why variables have not necessarily been grouped together, as has been done in several frame analysis studies in the existing body of literature. While this represents a slight compromise in the external validity of the results, the need to separate variables also reveals the complexity of frames within a given BRT system, which could prove to be a key takeaway for policymakers.

7. TRANSMILENIO: DISLIKED AT HOME, PRAISED ABROAD

7.1 Domestic coverage: few benefits, many risks

As Table 1 shows, the domestic coverage of TransMilenio defines problems with the system in the predominant contexts of system/fleet changes ($\bar{x} = 0.62$), budget use ($\bar{x} = 0.46$), and genderbased abuse ($\bar{x} = 0.40$). Right behind them, issues of overcrowding, accidents, mugging, and turnstile skipping - where passengers dangerously cross passing traffic on non-BRT designated lanes to jump queues and turnstiles at designated BRT stations, thus risking their lives - are also prevalent. TransMilenio operators and spokespersons ($\bar{x} = 0.88$), as well as passengers and pedestrians ($\bar{x} =$ 0.76), are the most frequently-cited actors; mayors and policymakers ($\bar{x} = 0.50$) follow suit. It should be noted that, contrary to reports from TCNs like C40 Cities and other best-practice sharing networks, the frames of congestion ($\bar{x} = 0.22$), cost-efficient transport ($\bar{x} = 0.14$), and climate change mitigation ($\bar{x} = 0.02$) are notably lacking in volume.

In the context of causal interpretation, the majority of the sentiment is one of risk, stemming from two key actors: TransMilenio operators and spokespersons, and passengers and pedestrians. Benefits in the causal context are also present via TransMilenio operators/spokespersons and mayors/policymakers, but at around half the volume of their counterparts. From the moral evaluation perspective, the results become even clearer: TransMilenio is scarcely framed as a solution for congestion ($\bar{x} = 0.06$), the need for cost-efficient transport ($\bar{x} = 0.10$), and climate change mitigation (\bar{x} = 0.02). Instead, TransMilenio is predominantly framed as a system susceptible to risks of genderbased abuse ($\bar{x} = 0.42$), budget use, turnstile skipping, accidents, and overcrowding. When analysing whether or not the sample of articles frames TransMilenio's status quo as a phenomenon that must change (e.g. policymakers ought to act to change the status quo), the opinion is clear with a mean score of 0.80. And in the context of treatment recommendation, domestic coverage rates TransMilenio with a sentiment that hovers closer to 'somewhat disappointed' according to the seven-point scale, which corroborates the number and volume of risks present across the articles sampled.

While there is a good amount of overlap in the standard deviations for each frame variable presented within the 50-article sample for domestic coverage, it should nonetheless be noted that the heralded frames of congestion reduction, BRT as a cost-efficient transport option, climate mitigation, and overall road efficiency are relatively missing. Instead, TransMilenio operators/spokespersons (and mayors/policymakers to a lesser extent) are often blamed for a system that encounters budget allocation problems, accidents, and overcrowding. Passengers and pedestrians, meanwhile, are called out for gender-based abuse that comes in the form of untoward acts against women, the dangerous and illegal practice of turnstile skipping, and frequent mugging. Domestic coverage, therefore, is a stark

departure from the ideal benefits presented by TCNs like C40 Cities, their partners, and other supporters of BRT as a modern transportation solution.

7.2. International coverage: more benefits, mitigated risks

Table 1 also shows a stark contrast in frames between domestic and international coverage. To start, the topics of congestion ($\overline{x} = 0.64$), cost-efficient transport ($\overline{x} = 0.60$), and climate change mitigation ($\overline{x} = 0.60$) have returned in international coverage, while the topics that appeared as risks in domestic coverage - budget use, gender-based abuse, system/fleet changes, accidents, and turnstile skipping - have significantly diminished relative to the figures found across domestic coverage (overcrowding being the exception with a mean score of 0.40). Several new topics are also introduced in international coverage: the TransMilenio status quo as insufficient ($\overline{x} = 0.64$), TransMilenio as good practice ($\overline{x} = 0.60$), TransMilenio as the largest system ($\overline{x} = 0.36$), link-up with other transport services ($\overline{x} = 0.36$), plans for improvement ($\overline{x} = 0.32$), and TransMilenio as a system that is worse now ($\overline{x} = 0.28$). Moreover, both TransMilenio operators/spokespersons and mayors/policymakers are now the principal actors with a mean score of 0.96, while passengers/pedestrians relatively take a back seat with a mean score of 0.48. In terms of the topics that surface on the international level however, already there is a noticeable contrast to domestic coverage.

From a causal interpretation perspective, TransMilenio operators/spokespersons ($\bar{x} = 0.68$) and mayors/policymakers ($\bar{x} = 0.84$) are the principal reasons behind benefits to the BRT system: a key departure from domestic coverage, where neither of the three identified actors feature a mean score above 0.26. Simultaneously, risks are also attributed to operators/spokespersons and mayors/policymakers ($\bar{x} = 0.56$) - with the latter bearing a much larger share of the blame than as featured in domestic coverage. Passengers/pedestrians shoulder a smaller share of the blame, scoring an average of 0.28.

More key differences abound when lining up moral evaluation scores for international coverage with domestic coverage. As the problem definition scores may preliminarily suggest, the benefits of congestion reduction ($\bar{x} = 0.52$), TransMilenio as a cost-efficient transport option ($\bar{x} = 0.56$), and even climate change mitigation ($\bar{x} = 0.20$) all feature values much higher than their domestic counterparts – with a minimum distance of one SD. Already, international coverage seems to hold the frames that staunch supporters of BRT claim their systems to have. Moreover, there are additional benefit frames that were unearthed when coding international coverage, namely: TransMilenio as a 'good practice' example ($\bar{x} = 0.64$), travel time savings ($\bar{x} = 0.40$), plans for improvement to the system ($\bar{x} = 0.36$), and linking-up with other travel services ($\bar{x} = 0.32$). Arguably, the appearance of travel time savings and the link-up with other services as frames suggests that international coverage also lines up with the favorable claim that BRT increases road efficiency as earlier conceptualized. The appearance of such frames should alert policymakers to a potential bias inherent in international coverage, favoring replicability over challenges that can be discovered at the local level while systems operate.

With the simultaneous focus on benefits comes a corresponding perceived decrease in the frames on risks: budget use, accidents, turnstile skipping, mugging, and gender-based abuse values all fall when compared to their counterparts in domestic coverage. Overcrowding ($\bar{x} = 0.32$), gender-based abuse ($\bar{x} = 0.32$), and budget use ($\bar{x} = 0.20$) all remain present in some of the articles sampled. Importantly, another three risks are added that were not present in domestic coverage: congestion ($\bar{x} = 0.32$), increased travel times ($\bar{x} = 0.32$), and the perception that TransMilenio was great before, but worse now ($\bar{x} = 0.24$). The inclusion of these three frames could suggest that, despite the increased prevalence of BRT-friendly frames across international coverage, the emergence of key risks should raise caution warnings for prospective policymakers looking to implement BRT. On the whole, international media frame the TransMilenio status quo as one in need of change ($\bar{x} = 0.60$), albeit to a lesser extent than their colleagues in the domestic press.

Corresponding with the increase in the diversity and volume of benefit frames across international coverage for TransMilenio, the system's treatment recommendation is significantly more positive at a value of 3.92. On the prescribed scale of 1 to 7, perspectives on TransMilenio could thus be viewed as 'neither satisfied nor dissatisfied'. Result reliability is dampened by the small-n (25), but nonetheless provide a snapshot of the coverage on TransMilenio between the years 2013-2015.

8. TRANSJAKARTA: MORE POSITIVE FRAMES

8.1. Domestic coverage

Table 2 shows another clear departure from BRT-friendly topics that surface in domestic coverage. System/fleet changes ($\bar{x} = 0.76$), budget use ($\bar{x} = 0.54$), cost-efficient transport ($\bar{x} = 0.26$), and accidents ($\bar{x} = 0.22$) are among the most relevant topics through which problems are defined, with bus faults ($\bar{x} = 0.18$) and overcrowding ($\bar{x} = 0.10$) coming in at a lesser extent. The predominant actors are the TransJakarta operators and spokespersons ($\bar{x} = 0.86$), governors/other policymakers ($\bar{x} = 0.54$) and passengers/pedestrians ($\bar{x} = 0.34$), while the Transportation Agency also plays a role ($\bar{x} = 0.22$). It should be noted that topics of travel time, climate change mitigation, and overcrowding are relatively low in frequency across the 50-article sample. From a causal perspective, operators/spokespersons and governors/policymakers shoulder the majority of benefit attributions ($\bar{x} = 0.44$), with passengers and pedestrians not being mentioned at all in a benefit context. However, operators/spokespersons are simultaneously the largest recipients of risk attribution ($\bar{x} = 0.40$), followed by the Transportation Agency with a mean score of 0.22.

Analyzing moral evaluation, TransJakarta is somewhat attributed the benefits of cost-efficient transportation ($\bar{x} = 0.30$), congestion reduction ($\bar{x} = 0.28$), and partnerships with other organizations to enhance its own service ($\bar{x} = 0.30$). Travel time, climate change mitigation, and plans for improvement are virtually non-existent in the 50-article sample, suggesting that some of the frames backed by TNCs and BRT supporters are missing in the TransJakarta context within the domestic press. The risks are dominated by budget use ($\bar{x} = 0.28$); a significant number of articles cited procurement mishandling

allegations on the part of the Jakarta Transportation Agency, with particular reference to the purchase of buses from China-based manufacturers. Several of these buses were reported as malfunctioning or causing dangerous accidents while in operation. The Office of the Attorney-General has since stepped in to investigate the case. This storyline helps explain the prevailing risk of budget use, as well as the risks attributed to the Agency and the small quantity of benefit attributed to the Attorney-General. Other risks include accidents and bus faults - again linked to the malfunctions found among the fleet of buses employed - as well as a status quo that must change ($\overline{x} = 0.48$).

Despite the risks involved however, domestic coverage portrays TransJakarta in a relatively neutral state of affairs, with a treatment recommendation judgment score of 3.82 that sits between 'slightly dissatisfied' and 'neither satisfied nor dissatisfied'. At the domestic level then, the media already views the system as somewhat more favorable than their Colombian counterparts do with TransMilenio: a score of 3.82 to the latter's 2.28.

8.2. International coverage

As with TransMilenio, international outlets - while represented with a smaller-*n* (25) - once again contain different frames than their domestic counterparts. Budget use and system/fleet changes, while remaining significant in the analysis, are eclipsed by congestion ($\bar{x} = 0.56$) and travel time ($\bar{x} = 0.56$) as the principal topics in problem definition. Cost-efficient transport remains relatively stable ($\bar{x} = 0.28$), while the topics of partnerships with other services ($\bar{x} = 0.40$), the status quo as insufficient and in need of change ($\bar{x} = 0.36$), and TransJakarta as good practice ($\bar{x} = 0.36$) have all resurfaced. In terms of actors, gone are the Jakarta Transportation Agency and Office of the Attorney-General completely; they've been replaced by operators/spokespersons ($\bar{x} = 0.72$), governors/policymakers ($\bar{x} = 0.68$), and to a lesser extent, passengers/pedestrians ($\bar{x} = 0.28$). This suggests that the international focus shifts away from procurement issues stemming from Transportation Agency and onto other phenomena occurring within the TransJakarta system.

Causally speaking, operators/spokespersons and governors/policymakers remain the main recipients of benefit attributions ($\bar{x} = 0.44$). Governors/policymakers also make up a key segment of risk attribution ($\bar{x} = 0.24$), but the largest risk appears to be that of other drivers on the road ($\bar{x} = 0.32$). The reason for this is made apparent in the analysis of moral evaluation, where a mean score of 0.28 is attributed to the risk of other vehicles encroaching on designated BRT lanes. This behavior, among other consequences, congests lanes that should make BRT otherwise faster and free of congestion. This corresponds with the emergence of congestion ($\bar{x} = 0.20$) and slower travel times ($\bar{x} = 0.16$) as frames across international coverage. Meanwhile, budget use, accidents, and bus faults - all mainstay frames in domestic coverage - have all relatively diminished. The status quo, meanwhile, stands at a mean score of 0.32 - lower than the 0.48 seen across domestic coverage. As a result of the continued benefits and the diminished effect of risks to the system, TransJakarta scores a higher mean of 4.12 in the treatment recommendation judgment spectrum. With a relatively small standard deviation, it is

safe to say that international coverage of TransJakarta stands as the least negative of all other scores in the same category.

9. DISCUSSION: BROADER TRENDS AND IMPLICATIONS

While Tables 1 and 2 feature a large number of variables and reflect the complexity of the BRT systems studied in this paper, there are nonetheless key takeaways that policymakers ought to account for in their decision-making processes, particularly if they are looking at procuring a BRT system for their constituencies.

First, in both the TransMilenio and TransJakarta contexts, new frames emerge outside of those put forward by TCNs like C40 Cities and other BRT backers (Cervero, 1998 in Wheeler and Beatley, 2009; Wright, 2003 in Fjellstrom, 2003). For Bogotá, gender-based abuse topped the list, followed by turnstile skipping and mugging, among others. For Jakarta, non-BRT driver behavior and an ongoing procurement investigation bogged down perceptions of BRT's efficacy for prospective users. Such new frames - which could themselves be framed as 'unintended consequences' ought to be expected when choosing, constructing, and maintaining a BRT system in any given city. As the results show, the impacts of a BRT system transcend the four hallmark benefits of congestion reduction, cost-efficiency, climate change mitigation, and increased road efficiency; there are social consequences that are not taken into account in traditional reports that currently exist within the literature.

Second, based on the preliminary data in Tables 1 and 2, it can be said that both null hypotheses in this paper can be rejected to a degree of confidence. The first hypothesis posits that domestic coverage frames differ from those inherent in documents authored by BRT supporters, like transmunicipal collaboration networks and sponsoring governments. While standard deviation figures can be minimized still, Tables 1 and 2 show a clear departure from the frames of congestion reduction, cost-efficient transport, climate change mitigation, and road efficiency within domestic coverage. Thus, the null hypothesis can be rejected on preliminary terms. The second hypothesis, which posits that international coverage more closely matches the four supporting frames than its domestic counterpart, can also be validated preliminarily. The frequency of benefit attributions and causal interpretations across international coverage either matches or significantly outweighs those found in domestic coverage.

Third, and building on the emergence of new, unintended frames, the broader cultural setting within which a BRT system is located can have a significant impact on its performance, and consequently, its framing in the media. Gender-based abuse in Bogotá, for example, is often chalked-up as a consequence of a patriarchal society structure (*The Economist*, 2015). TransMilenio, therefore, can act as a vehicle for behaviors that emerge as a function of that societal structure - both literally and figuratively. The same principle applies for irresponsible drivers in the TransJakarta context. Drivers in non-BRT lanes encroaching on BRT lanes in order to gain a time advantage risk congesting TransJakarta and pose a danger to other drivers on the road. Reports in the coverage of a lack of

enforcement on the part of police to apprehend violators of BRT-exclusive lanes compounds the cultural conundrum: not only may drivers disrespect certain road rules, but those people put in place to enforce the rules may not do so effectively. As a result, TransJakarta's ability to curb congestion and reduce travel times is only as good as its ability to keep its dedicated lanes closed off to non-BRT traffic. Policymakers have an intrinsic incentive to understand and address these broader sociological trends because they can impact the returns on investment and the overall value of their BRT systems. If, as in Bogotá, the system is deemed unsafe, users could be deterred from its use. If, as in Jakarta, the system makes no improvement on travel time because of a lack of road rule enforcement, then user rates may drop. Both cases jeopardize operating revenue streams. The consequences can be significant, and policymakers' incentives to address and respond to broader sociological contexts only increase as the size and complexity of the BRT system rises as well.

Fourth, international coverage consistently yields fewer dissatisfactory frames of both TransMilenio and TransJakarta when compared to their domestic counterparts. As observed in Tables 1 and 2, international outlets focus on benefit attributions and benefits resulting from the existence of BRT. Here, the frames espoused by TNCs and BRT backers appear in abundance: congestion reduction, cost-efficient transport, climate change mitigation, and various factors contributing to increased road efficiency are seen as emergent benefits in both systems. Furthermore, the significance of locally-based problems - like gender-based abuse and turnstile skipping in Bogotá or bus faults and procurement scandal allegations in Jakarta - are diminished in international coverage. With a significant amount of articles dedicated to portraying both TransMilenio ($\bar{x} = 0.60$) and TransJakarta $(\bar{x} = 0.36)$ as examples of 'good practice', there is an inherent incentive on the part of news writers to proffer the benefits of BRT systems for prospective users. Such articles can become a list of benefits for policymakers, city dwellers, and unsuspecting readers who are presented with the positives of having a BRT system in their city, and in this context particularly for densely-populated cities situated within developing country contexts. In doing so however, the articles eschew the local risks inherent in adopting a BRT system; such actions can, as seen in Tables 1 and 2, create knock-on effects that reduce the efficacy and mitigate positive perceptions of BRT.

10. LIMITATIONS

Several key limitations to the study must be addressed. First, the sample size of articles analyzed leaves room for improvement. 100 domestic articles and 50 international articles across both TransMilenio and TransJakarta provide sufficient data to back preliminary conclusions, but as the relatively large standard deviation values show throughout both Tables 1 and 2, uncertainties can be further reduced by increasing the sample size. Doing so would involve the use of more extensive databases that house more press articles at both the domestic and international levels, so as not to be limited by the availability present on the Google News search engine and the *LexisNexis* academic archives.

Second, the frame variables selected for both TransMilenio and TransJakarta are, unlike Matthes and Kohring (2008), non-mutually exclusive. Accidents and bus fires, for example, rather than being grouped under one unified variable, are separated. This is done to preserve the differences in operationalization that occur between the two systems, and the frames that can emerge therefrom. Naturally however, in the process of maintaining internal validity through this method, a modicum of external validity is sacrificed. The applicability of the results of this paper to other contexts may be relatively limited by this factor as a result; nonetheless, in the interest of preserving frame accuracy, the decision was taken to collect data and code on as many different frames and variables as possible.

Third, this paper collects data from one overarching actor in the policy cycle: the news media. The news media are critical as their publications can help shape public opinion, but they are far from being the only actors in the mix. Further research should delve deeper into the frames present across BRT systems and across actors, potentially utilizing focus groups, interviews, and surveys to gather data on a wider range of people. In the process, both accuracy and reliability of findings can be improved.

Fourth, this paper only contains one coding round, performed by the author himself. To reduce the effects of bias and to ensure higher degrees of quality in the results, several coding rounds should take place and ought to be conducted by persons other than the lead author. Given the nature of the thesis, the latter is difficult to achieve under these conditions; however, further coding rounds could yield greater confidence in the results. Attempts to build on or replicate this research should follow the best practices of qualitative methods in order to optimize data reliability.

11. CONCLUSION

Bus rapid transit remains a highly attractive transport policy option in urban spaces whose leaders are looking for a way to move its citizens faster without breaking the bank. While the main positives of BRT - congestion reduction, cost-efficient transport, climate change mitigation, and road efficiency - are well and true in many contexts, this paper highlights the differences in frames that can emerge from domestic and international press coverage in the two specific cases of TransMilenio and TransJakarta. Using Entman's (1993) frame analysis methodology and building on the work of Matthes and Kohring (2008), the analysis of 150 articles covering both BRT systems yields significant departures from supporting frames within domestic coverage. Seeking to deliver up-to-date news to their readers, domestic outlets may be less interested in highlighting system benefits then they are concerned with reporting the news, which involves a variety of frames that are distinct from what supports of BRT systems would like to see. Furthermore, discrepancies in frames between domestic and international coverage suggests a difference in purpose; in many instances, international articles framed either one of the selected BRT systems as an ideal case study from which good practices can be implemented in prospective cities. These phenomena, combined with the emergence of new frames

that are embedded in the social fabric of the city in which a BRT system is located, form the nuances that complicate the supposed benefits that BRT should bring to the constituents it serves.

In their seminal work on policy controversies, Schön and Rein (1994) highlight that public discourse - such as the frames presented in both domestic and international media articles - takes on the form of an "institutional vehicle for policy debate" (31-32). And by placing such frames - which can be argued as "normative-prescriptive" stories that give a recommended action for a particular problem - in the public sphere, the policy status quo can be moved right or left based, in part, on the strength of the actors behind them (Rein and Schön, 1996). While this paper carries its honest limitations that must be improved upon in further iterations of research, policymakers should nonetheless take note of the frames that can emerge and disappear in real-world implementation of BRT systems, and adequately prepare for them in turn. TransMilenio and TransJakarta are policy solutions in the urban planning realm, but they are also situated within broader sociological contexts that mechanical approaches to the problem of congestion cannot anticipate alone. In the case of TransMilenio, problems of gender-based abuse and the life-threatening risks of turnstile skipping and mugging rear their ugly heads in ways that policymakers focused solely on the mechanics of vehicle movement cannot anticipate and prepare for. The same lesson applies for TransJakarta's case, where a blatant disrespect of road rules and constant corruption allegations exist. In the struggle to move BRT from a position policy endangerment into one of acceptance and relative success, policymakers must first be adept at identifying the problems inherent in the systems that currently exist today (Ingram et al., 2007).

In the context of TransMilenio and TransJakarta, there are two sets of policymakers who are directly impacted by the findings of this paper. First, policymakers in Bogotá and Jakarta, respectively, now have an opportunity to build on this research to conduct more in-depth analysis on the ways in which BRT systems are received and perceived, especially in the eyes of the news media both at home and abroad. Once sufficient analysis has been conducted, policymakers can then take correctional measures through appropriate policy that mitigates negative perceptions and risks to the system, while enhancing positive aspects at the same time. The second set of policymakers who are directly impacted by this paper are those who are in the process of considering BRT for their urban space. Particularly for those policymakers situated in developing country contexts and whose budgets are cash-strapped, this paper is clear support for an evidence-based approach to public policy. A clear understanding of both the technical elements of BRT and the broader sociological context within which it is set is necessary in order to optimize the system's chances of overall success. This paper does not, in any way, shape, or form, minimize the importance of sound engineering and technicallyfocused urban planning; instead, it advocates for a two-pronged approach that elevates the value of social effects as a factor that could impact the ways in which a planned BRT system is perceived by the public, news media, and other stakeholders. For both sets of policymakers however, the incentives are clear: a thorough comprehension of and proper attention for the sociological dimension of BRT installation and operation are necessary.

If policymakers are concerned with maintaining existing BRT systems or seeking sufficient advocacy coalition support for the installation thereof, then Rein and Schön (1996) once more hold telling keys to success. If, as Entman (1993) and Hajer and Laws (2006) posit, frame analysis is an opportunity to highlight the ways in which real-world phenomena are connected to the individual consciousness and broader social action, then the strength of these frames and the actors behind them are critical to preserving policy preferences. As normative-prescriptive notes, a collective set of frames can give policymakers a better sense of the strength and stability of a given BRT system. More importantly, based on these findings, policymakers can then adapt their policy actions to better address any challenges that exist. Whether the context is TransMilenio and TransJakarta, BRT as a policy solution, or policy tools in general, the hallmark of evidence-based policymaking is the education of actors before they take action. As this paper highlights through frame analysis, the potential for fallout from a misjudgment of BRT system consequences is high if precautions are not taken to address community needs in a more holistic manner.

If unexpected frames and unintended consequences are the story to the paper, then opportunities for evidence-based policy comprise the moral to the story. This paper yields profound insight into the sociological aspects of BRT systems, the newfound need for policymakers to consider and adapt to their characteristics if they are to produce favorable, successful, and reliable iterations of BRT for urban spaces in most need. The system is no less cost-efficient, no less an opportunity to reduce congestion, and no less a chance to further mitigate climate change than it was at the beginning of the paper. It is clearer, however, that policymakers must support the implementation of BRT with an eye towards unintended consequences and public scrutiny.

12. REFERENCES

- Adiwinarto, Y. (2015, April 4). Jakarta's dubious elevated bus rapid transit plan. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2015/04/04/jakarta-s-dubious-elevated-bus-rapid-transit-plan.html
- Aziza, K. S. (2014, May 30). 1 Juni, 3 Koridor Transjakarta Beroperasi 24 Jam. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://megapolitan.kompas.com/read/2014/05/30/2029504/1.Juni.3.Koridor. Transjakarta.Beroperasi.24.Jam
- Aziza, K. S. (2015a, February 18). Ahok Ingin Integrasikan Go-Jek dan Transjakarta. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://megapolitan.kompas.com/read/2015/02/18/08114031/Ahok.Ingin. Integrasikan.Go-Jek.dan.Transjakarta
- Aziza, K. S. (2015b, February 23). Begini Cara Ahok Tambah Rute dan Bus Transjakarta. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://megapolitan.kompas.com/read/2015/02/23/12125601/Begini.Cara. Ahok.Tambah.Rute.dan.Bus.Transjakarta.
- Aziza, K. S. (2015c, June 24). Berhasil Gaet Kopaja, Ahok Kini Rayu Metromini Gabung Transjakarta. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://megapolitan.kompas.com/read/2015/06/24/ 17454161/Berhasil.Gaet.Kopaja.Ahok.Kini.Rayu.Metromini.Gabung.Transjakarta
- Basa, Mick. (2014, August 27). Funding for Cebu Bus Rapid Transit system approved. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.rappler.com//business/industries/208-infrastructure/67415-cebubrt-project-funding
- BBC Monitoring Asia Pacific Political. (2014, October 15). Indonesia anti-corruption body dismisses allegations against president-elect. *BBC Worldwide Monitoring*. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/results/docview/docview.do?docLinkInd=true&risb=21 _T27720690492&format=GNBFI&sort=DATE,D,H&startDocNo=51&resultsUrlKey=29_T2 7720690488&cisb=22_T27720695703&treeMax=true&treeWidth=0&csi=10962&docNo=60
- Belarminus, R. (2015, July 3). Transjakarta Terbakar di Salemba, Lorena Tarik Semua Bus Merek Komodo. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://megapolitan.kompas.com/read/2015/07/03/ 14165161/Transjakarta.Terbakar.di.Salemba.Lorena.Tarik.Semua.Bus.Merek.Komodo
- Benford, R. D. (1997). An Insider's Critique of the Social Movement Framing Perspective*. *Sociological Inquiry*, 67(4), 409–430. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-682X.1997.tb00445.x
- Betsill, M., & Bulkeley, H. (2007). Looking Back and Thinking Ahead: A Decade of Cities and Climate Change Research. *Local Environment*, 12(5), 447–456. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 13549830701659683
- Björnehed, E., & Erikson, J. (2018). Making the most of the frame: developing the analytical potential of frame analysis. *Policy Studies*, 39(2), 109–126. https://doi.org/10.1080/01442872.2018. 1434874

- Blanco, S. (2014, June 13). Petty crime a major challenge in Colombia. *El País*. Retrieved from https://elpais.com/elpais/2014/06/13/inenglish/1402668378_694979.html
- Bond, T. C., Streets, D. G., Yarber, K. F., Nelson, S. M., Woo, J.-H., & Klimont, Z. (n.d.). A technology-based global inventory of black and organic carbon emissions from combustion. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 109(D14). https://doi.org/10.1029/ 2003JD003697
- Brodzinsky, S. (2014, February 7). A Tale of Two Cities: Bogotá. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.americasquarterly.org/content/tale-two-cities-bogot%C3%A1
- BRTData.org. (2018a). Bogotá [Database]. Retrieved June 6, 2018, from https://brtdata.org/location/ latin_america/colombia/bogota
- BRTData.org. (2018b). GDP per capita (US\$) [Database]. Retrieved June 6, 2018, from https://brtdata.org/indicators/systems/gdp_per_capita_us/
- BRTData.org. (2018c). Jakarta [Database]. Retrieved June 6, 2018, from https://brtdata.org/location/asia/indonesia/jakarta/
- Budiari, I. (2015a, February 17). 1.38 million commute into Jakarta daily. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2015/02/17/138-million-commute-jakarta-daily. html
- Budiari, I. (2015b, June 24). Long waits, poor bus condition drive passengers from busway. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2015/06/24/long-waits-poor-buscondition-drive-passengers-busway.html
- Budiari, I., & Elyda, C. (2015, December 23). Kopaja buses integrated into Transjakarta system. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2015/12/23/kopaja-busesintegrated-transjakarta-system.html
- Burdett, R. (2015, February 11). A tale of four world cities London, Delhi, Tokyo and Bogotá compared. *The Guardian*. Retrieved from http://www.theguardian.com/cities/2015/feb/11/ tale-four-cities-london-delhi-tokyo-bogota-data
- C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group. (2011, November 3). BRT System Reduced Traveling Time 32%, Reduced Gas Emissions 40% and Reduced Accidents 90%. Retrieved June 6, 2018, from https://www.c40.org/case_studies/brt-system-reduced-traveling-time-32-reduced-gas-emissions-40-and-reduced-accidents-90
- C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group. (2012, January 17). A 12.9 km Bus Rapid Transport System Built in Just 9 Months at a Cost of \$2 Million/km. Retrieved June 6, 2018, from https://www.c40.org/case_studies/a-129-km-bus-rapid-transport-system-built-in-just-9months-at-a-cost-of-2-millionkm
- C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group. (2016). *Bus Rapid Transit* (Good Practice Guide). New York, NY: C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group. Retrieved from http://c40-production-

images.s3.amazonaws.com/good_practice_briefings/images/2_C40_GPG_BRT.original.pdf?1 456788644

- Cable, S. (2014, November 1). The world's most unsafe cities for women to travel in revealed in poll. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.dailymail.co.uk/travel/travel_news/article-2815661/Which-cities-dangerous-women-travel-New-study-reveals-world-s-unsafe-publictransport-systems.html
- Ceaser, M. (2014, April 22). Bogota: an urbanist's guide to the city. *The Guardian*. Retrieved from http://www.theguardian.com/cities/2014/apr/22/bogota-urbanists-guide-city-colombia-bicycle
- Cerón, J. (2015, December 16). 15 lecciones en los 15 años de TransMilenio. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/CMS-16460254
- Cervero, R. (2009). Transit and the Metropolis: Finding Harmony. In S. M. Wheeler & T. Beatley (Eds.), *The Sustainable Urban Development Reader* (2nd ed.). 270 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10016: Routledge.
- Cervero, R. (2013). Bus Rapid Transit (BRT): An Efficient and Competitive Mode of Public Transport (IURD Workinge Paper Series). Berkeley, CA, United States of America: UC Berkeley Institute of Urban and Regional Development. Retrieved from https://escholarship.org/uc/ item/4sn2f5wc#author
- Cervero, R., & Kang, C. D. (2011). Bus rapid transit impacts on land uses and land values in Seoul, Korea. *Transport Policy*, *18*(1), 102–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2010.06.005
- Chan, S. P. (2015, February 28). Colombia: from failed state to Latin American powerhouse. *The Telegraph*. Retrieved from https://www.telegraph.co.uk/finance/globalbusiness/11441732/ Colombia-from-failed-state-to-Latin-American-powerhouse.html
- Chardy, A. (2015, August 19). Miami-Dade transportation authorities explore costs for rapid transit. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.miamiherald.com/news/traffic/article31544828 .html
- Cochrane, J. (2013a, August 1). Jakarta's commuters await speedier transit; With new prosperity comes greater push for subway and rail projects. *The International Herald Tribune*. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/results/docview/docview.do?docLinkInd=true&risb=21_T27720690492&format=GNBFI&sort=DATE,D,H&startDocNo=51&resultsUrlKey =29_T27720690488&cisb=22_T27720695703&treeMax=true&treeWidth=0&csi=8357&doc No=73
- Cochrane, J. (2013b, August 5). Hours to Go, Just to Get to Work. *The New York Times*. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/results/docview/docview.do?docLinkInd=true& risb=21_T27720690492&format=GNBFI&sort=DATE,D,H&startDocNo=51&resultsUrlKey= 29_T27720690488&cisb=22_T27720695703&treeMax=true&treeWidth=0&csi=6742&doc No=72

- Correspondent. (2015, March 18). Of Bogota and Karachi: BRTS experts begin designing Blue line. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://tribune.com.pk/story/854755/of-bogota-and-karachibrts-experts-begin-designing-blue-line/
- d'Allant, J. (2015, September 14). How to Integrate a New BRT System With Existing Transport Modes. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://thecityfix.com/blog/how-to-integrate-new-brtsystem-existing-transport-modes-josephine-dallant/
- David, C. C., Atun, J. M., Fille, E., & Monterola, C. (2011). Finding Frames: Comparing Two Methods of Frame Analysis. *Communication Methods and Measures*, 5, 329–351. https://doi.org/10.1080/19312458.2011.624873
- Deng, T., & Nelson, J. D. (2011). Recent Developments in Bus Rapid Transit: A Review of the Literature. *Transport Reviews*, 31(1), 69–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/01441647.2010.492455
- Dewi, S. W. (2013a, March 7). Transjakarta welcomes Bogor-Rawamangun feeder service. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2013/03/07/transjakarta-welcomesbogor-rawamangun-feeder-service.html
- Dewi, S. W. (2013b, October 11). MRT, better late than never National The Jakarta Post. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2013/10/11/mrt-better-latenever.html
- Dewi, S. W. (2014, January 30). Jokowi targets railway executives to lead Transjakarta. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2014/01/30/jokowi-targetsrailway-executives-lead-transjakarta.html
- Dirikx, A., & Gelders, D. (2010). To frame is to explain: A deductive frame-analysis of Dutch and French climate change coverage during the annual UN Conferences of the Parties. *Public Understanding of Science*, *19*(6), 732–742. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963662509352044
- Edelman, M. (1993). Contestable categories and public opinion. *Political Communication*, *10*(3), 231–242. https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.1993.9962981
- El Anshari, D. F. (2014, May 23). Kejagung Geledah Perusahaan yang Terlibat Pengadaan Bus Transjakarta. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://megapolitan.kompas.com/read/2014/ 05/23/1343404/Kejagung.Geledah.Perusahaan.yang.Terlibat.Pengadaan.Bus.Transjakara
- El Colombiano. (2014, February 14). Definido plan piloto de vagones rosados en TransMilenio. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.elcolombiano.com/historico/definido_plan_piloto _de_vagones_rosados_en_transmilenio-EWEC_282215
- El Colombiano. (2015, February 4). Protestas en Transmilenio afectaron la movilidad en Bogotá. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.elcolombiano.com/colombia/protestas-entransmilenio-afectaron-la-movilidad-en-bogota-AJ1218673
- El Espectador. (2013, December 27). Arranca Transmilenio a Soacha [Text]. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/bogota/arranca-transmilenio-soacha-articulo-466119

- El Espectador. (2015a, July 15). El problema de 2.000 trabajadores de TransMilenio para acceder a un baño [Text]. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/bogota/el-problema-de-2000-trabajadores-de-transmilenio-accede-articulo-572801
- El Espectador. (2015b, August 12). ¿Por qué Bogotá no tiene el transporte que hay en Medellín siendo más grande? [Text]. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/ bogota/bogota-no-tiene-el-transporte-hay-medellin-siendo-mas-g-articulo-578686
- El Espectador. (2015c, September 3). Estudiantes de Bogotá gozarán de tarifa diferencial en TransMilenio y SITP [Text]. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.elespectador.com/ noticias/bogota/estudiantes-de-bogota-gozaran-de-tarifa- diferencial-tra-articulo-583760
- El Espectador. (2015d, October 27). Peñalosa, padeciendo en carne propia a Transmilenio [Text]. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/politica/penalosapadeciendo-carne-propia-transmilenio-articulo-595487
- El Espectador. (2015e, December 29). Tarifa de TransMilenio para 2016 está en manos de Enrique Peñalosa [Text]. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/ bogota/tarifa-de-transmilenio-2016-esta-manos-de-enrique-penal-articulo-608216
- El Tiempo. (2013, October 23). Accidente de TransMilenio deja nueve heridos y paraliza el tráfico. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/CMS-13140637
- El Tiempo. (2014a, February 16). Editorial: ¿Qué pasa con TransMilenio? Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/CMS-13511056
- El Tiempo. (2014b, February 23). Casos de acoso sexual no cesan en TransMilenio. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/CMS-13548003
- El Tiempo. (2015a, March 15). El 89 % de los bogotanos piensan que TransMilenio es inseguro. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/CMS-15404441
- El Tiempo. (2015b, April 17). Al intentar colarse en TransMilenio, hombre murió arrollado por bus. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/CMS-15587035
- El Tiempo. (2015c, April 17). Habla familia de mujer arrollada por intentar colarse en TransMilenio. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/CMS-15589296
- El Tiempo. (2015d, May 5). Esfuerzos contra los abusos a mujeres en TransMilenio parecen en vano. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/CMS-15695835
- El Tiempo. (2015e, June 24). "Operar las 24 horas no sería rentable": TransMilenio. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/CMS-16001175
- El Tiempo. (2015f, September 2). ¡Por fin!: pasajeros de TransMilenio ya pueden usar todas las tarjetas. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/CMS-16328496
- El Tiempo. (n.d.). Mujer víctima de abuso cuenta la humillación que vivió en TransMilenio. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/CMS-13487855

- Elyda, C. (2015, October 9). No overarching plan for city's many transit projects. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2015/10/09/no-overarching-plan-city-s-many-transit-projects.html
- Entman, R. M. (1993). Framing: Toward Clarification of a Fractured Paradigm. *Journal of Communication*, 43(4), 51–58. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.1993.tb01304.x
- Erazo, C. (2015, November 26). Preocupa inseguridad en Transmilenio [Text]. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/bogota/preocupa-inseguridad-transmilenioarticulo-601735
- EURACTIV.com. (2013, September 20). EU public transport could learn from Bogotá, road lobby suggests. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.euractiv.com/section/transport/news/eu-public-transport-could-learn-from-bogota-road-lobby-suggests/
- Freischlad, N. (2015, October 28). Go-Jek links up with Jakarta's busway system. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.techinasia.com/go-jek-link-up-with-transjakarta-busway
- Goffman, E. (1974). Frame Analysis. Harper & Row.
- Hajer, M., & Laws, D. (2006). Ordering Through Discourse. In M. Moran, M. Rein, & R. E. Goodin (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Public Policy*. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Hensher, D. A., & Golob, T. F. (2008). Bus rapid transit systems: a comparative assessment. *Transportation*, 35(4), 501–518. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11116-008-9163-y
- Hill, M. (2013). The Public Policy Process (6th ed.). United Kingdom: Pearson Education Limited.
- Hume, C. (2015, February 22). Real issue isn't best transit; it's who owns the street: Hume. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.thestar.com/news/gta/transportation/2015/02/22/real-issueisnt-best-transit-its-who-owns-the-street-hume.html
- Ingram, H., & Schneider, A. L. (2006). Policy Analysis for Democracy. In M. Moran, M. Rein, & R.E. Goodin (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Public Policy*. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Ingram, H., Schneider, A. L., & Deleon, P. (2007). Social Construction and Policy Design. In P. A. Sabatier (Ed.), *Theories of the Policy Process* (2nd ed.). Boulder, CO, USA: Westview Press.
- Innovation Media Consulting. (2016, April 13). Can El Tiempo redefine its values and move closer to readers? Retrieved June 18, 2018, from https://innovation.media/newswheel/ can_el_tiempo_redefine_its_values
- ITDP. (2018, June 8). What is BRT? Retrieved June 8, 2018, from https://www.itdp.org/library/standards-and-guides/the-bus-rapid-transit-standard/what-is-brt/
- Jaramillo, J. J. (2014, August 1). Can Undercover Cops End Sexual Assault on Public Transportation? *Slate.* Retrieved from http://www.slate.com/blogs/xx_factor/2014/08/01/undercover_cops_ for_sexual_assault_bogot_police_crack_down_on_sexual_assault.html?via=gdprconsent&via=gdpr-consent

28

- Jiménez, L. A. (2015, April 11). 10 propuestas para frenar a los colados en TransMilenio. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/CMS-15554479
- John Mcbeth. (2014, February 22). Weighing the cost of Jakarta's MRT system. *The Straits Times*. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/results/docview/docview.do?docLink Ind=true&risb=21_T27720690492&format=GNBFI&sort=DATE,D,H&startDocNo=51&resu ltsUrlKey=29_T27720690488&cisb=22_T27720695703&treeMax=true&treeWidth=0&csi=1 44965&docNo=66
- Jong, H. N. (2015, December 19). Air quality in big cities improves after car-free days. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2015/12/19/air-quality-big-citiesimproves-after-car-free-days.html
- Kartika, U. (2015, June 22). Kecelakaan Transjakarta di Mampang, Sopir Baru Kerja 2 Hari.
 Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://megapolitan.kompas.com/read/2015/06/22/12335191/
 Kecelakaan.Transjakarta.di.Mampang.Sopir.Baru.Kerja.2.Hari
- Keil, R., & Whitehead, M. (2015). Cities and the Politics of Sustainability. In *The Oxford Handbook* of Urban Politics (pp. 520–541). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Kennedy, C., Steinberger, J., Gasson, B., Hansen, Y., Hillman, T., Havránek, M., ... Mendez, G. V. (2009). Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Global Cities. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 43(19), 7297–7302. https://doi.org/10.1021/es900213p
- King, R. (2013, December 10). 4 Ways Cities Benefit from Bus Rapid Transit (BRT). Retrieved June 6, 2018, from http://www.wri.org/blog/2013/12/4-ways-cities-benefit-bus-rapid-transit-brt
- Kraul, C. (2017, December 21). A Dynamic Bogotá Attracts Foreign Buyers and Businesses. *The New York Times*. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2015/03/20/greathomesand destinations/a-dynamic-bogota-attracts-foreign-buyers-and-businesses.html
- Kuwado, F. J. (2013, June 26). Kabar Gembira, Jokowi Batal Naikkan Tarif Transjakarta. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://megapolitan.kompas.com/read/2013/06/26/1033211/Kabar. Gembira.Jokowi.Batal.Naikkan.Tarif.Transjakarta
- Kuwado, F. J. (2014a, February 11). PT San Abadi Bukan Pemenang Tender Bus Transjakarta. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://megapolitan.kompas.com/read/2014/02/11/ 1159195/PT.San.Abadi.Bukan.Pemenang.Tender.Bus.Transjakarta
- Kuwado, F. J. (2014b, August 28). Ini Asal-usul Bus Transjakarta yang Terbakar. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://megapolitan.kompas.com/read/2014/08/28/15564971/Ini.Asal-usul.Bus. Transjakarta.yang.Terbakar
- Kuypers, J. A. (2010). Framing Analysis from a Rhetorical Perspective. In P. D'Angelo & J. A.Kuypers (Eds.), *Doing News Framing Analysis*. New York, NY, United States of America: Routledge.
- Kuypers, J. A., & King, A. (2005). What Is Rhetoric? In J. A. Kuypers (Ed.), *The Art of Rhetorical Criticism*. Boston, MA, United States of America: Pearson Education, Inc.

- La Vanguardia. (2013a, March 15). 37 personas heridas en tres accidentes de tránsito en Bogotá. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.vanguardia.com/actualidad/colombia/200219-37personas-heridas-en-tres-accidentes-de-transito-en-bogota
- La Vanguardia. (2013b, March 28). Sistemas de transporte masivo pasan por un mal momento. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.vanguardia.com/actualidad/colombia/201919sistemas-de-transporte-masivo-pasan-por-un-mal-momento
- La Vanguardia. (2013c, July 10). Accidente en el sur de Bogotá deja tres muertos y 10 heridos. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.vanguardia.com/actualidad/colombia/215836accidente-en-el-sur-de-bogota-deja-tres-muertos-y-10-heridos
- La Vanguardia. (2013d, July 30). Sanción a Transmilenio por tarjetas de recaudo. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.vanguardia.com/actualidad/colombia/218610-sancion-a-transmilenio-por-tarjetas-de-recaudo
- La Vanguardia. (2013e, August 6). Amenaza de bomba provocó evacuación en estación de Transmilenio en Bogotá. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.vanguardia.com/ actualidad/colombia/219570-amenaza-de-bomba-provoco-evacuacion-en-estacion-detransmilenio-en-bogota
- La Vanguardia. (2013f, September 30). Agencia especial por muerte de hincha en Transmilenio. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.vanguardia.com/actualidad/colombia/227360agencia-especial-por-muerte-de-hincha-en-transmilenio
- La Vanguardia. (2013g, October 23). Tres heridos por accidente de Transmilenio en Bogotá. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.vanguardia.com/actualidad/colombia/230778-tres-heridospor-accidente-de-transmilenio-en-bogota
- La Vanguardia. (2014a, February 14). Definido plan piloto de vagones rosados en Transmilenio. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.vanguardia.com/actualidad/colombia/246838definido-plan-piloto-de-vagones-rosados-en-transmilenio
- La Vanguardia. (2014b, February 25). Transmilenio contará con vagones exclusivos para mujeres. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.vanguardia.com/actualidad/colombia/248501transmilenio-contara-con-vagones-exclusivos-para-mujeres
- La Vanguardia. (2014c, July 29). Grupo élite de mujeres capturó a un segundo abusador en TransMilenio. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.vanguardia.com/actualidad/ colombia/271402-grupo-elite-de-mujeres-capturo-a-un-segundo-abusador-en-transmilenio
- La Vanguardia. (2014d, October 7). Bogotá contaría con el primer metro subterráneo del país. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.vanguardia.com/actualidad/colombia/281891bogota-contaria-con-el-primer-metro-subterraneo-del-pais
- La Vanguardia. (2014e, November 1). ¿Es la integración la solución para el transporte colectivo en Bucaramanga? Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.vanguardia.com/santander/ bucaramanga/285373-es-la-integracion-la-solucion-para-el-transporte-colectivo-en-bucaraman

- La Vanguardia. (2014f, November 20). Accidente de dos articulados de Transmilenio en Bogotá. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.vanguardia.com/actualidad/colombia/287892accidente-de-dos-articulados-de-transmilenio-en-bogota
- La Vanguardia. (2015, August 9). Muere conductora tras estrellarse contra bus de Transmilenio en Bogotá. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.vanguardia.com/colombia/322825-muereconductora-tras-estrellarse-contra-bus-de-transmilenio
- Lanka Busines Report. (2013, March 21). Sri Lanka mass transit system for Colombo studied by Japan. Lanka Business Report. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/ lnacui2api/results/docview/docview.do?docLinkInd=true&risb=21_T27720690492&format= GNBFI&sort=DATE,D,H&startDocNo=76&resultsUrlKey=29_T27720690488&cisb=22_T2 7720695703&treeMax=true&treeWidth=0&csi=382496&docNo=78
- Lee, T., & Koski, C. (2014). Mitigating Global Warming in Global Cities: Comparing Participation and Climate Change Policies of C40 Cities. *Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis: Research and Practice*, 16(5), 475–492. https://doi.org/10.1080/13876988.2014.910938
- Legal Monitor Worldwide. (2013a, September 24). Discipline Is Needed On Jakarta's Streets. *Legal Monitor Worldwide*. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/results/docview/ docview.do?docLinkInd=true&risb=21_T27720690492&format=GNBFI&sort=DATE,D,H& startDocNo=51&resultsUrlKey=29_T27720690488&cisb=22_T27720695703&treeMax=true &treeWidth=0&csi=407773&docNo=71
- Legal Monitor Worldwide. (2013b, November 26). Sudan Embassy's Car Trespassing TransJakarta Bus Way. *Legal Monitor Worldwide*. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/ api/version1/getDocCui?lni=59XF-MJ01-JDJN-6545&csi=270944,270077,11059,8411&hl= t&hv=t&hnsd=f&hns=t&hgn=t&oc=00240&perma=true
- Legal Monitor Worldwide. (2014a, February 10). A Discipline Problem, From the Streets to Society. *Legal Monitor Worldwide*. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/results/ docview/docview.do?docLinkInd=true&risb=21_T27720690492&format=GNBFI&sort=DAT E,D,H&startDocNo=51&resultsUrlKey=29_T27720690488&cisb=22_T27720695703&treeM ax=true&treeWidth=0&csi=407773&docNo=67
- Legal Monitor Worldwide. (2014b, June 17). Motorists caught using "police" equipment. *Legal Monitor Worldwide*. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/results/docview/ docview.do?docLinkInd=true&risb=21_T27720690492&format=GNBFI&sort=DATE,D,H& startDocNo=51&resultsUrlKey=29_T27720690488&cisb=22_T27720695703&treeMax=true &treeWidth=0&csi=407773&docNo=64
- Legal Monitor Worldwide. (2014c, October 4). Jakarta politics heating up. *Legal Monitor Worldwide*. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/results/docview/docview.do?docLink Ind=true&risb=21_T27720690492&format=GNBFI&sort=DATE,D,H&startDocNo=51&resu
ltsUrlKey=29_T27720690488&cisb=22_T27720695703&treeMax=true&treeWidth=0&csi=4 07773&docNo=61

- Levinson, H., Zimmerman, S., Clinger, J., & Rutherford, G. (2002). Bus Rapid Transit: An Overview. *Journal of Public Transportation*, 5(2). https://doi.org/http://doi.org/10.5038/2375-0901.5.2.1
- Margolis, J. (2015a, October 21). 8 million people. No subway. Can this city thrive without one? Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.pri.org/stories/2015-10-21/can-modern-megacitybogot-get-without-subway
- Margolis, J. (2015b, October 23). Is being safer than Atlanta good enough for Bogotá? Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.pri.org/stories/2015-10-23/being-safer-atlanta-good-enough-bogot
- Marín, A. (2015, June 8). ¿Cómo es trabajar día a día detrás del volante de TransMilenio? Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/CMS-15918459
- Martinez, S. (2015, October 19). Colombia's El Tiempo is the most followed Latin American newspaper on Twitter. Retrieved June 18, 2018, from https://knightcenter.utexas.edu/blog/00-16383-colombia%E2%80%99s-el-tiempo-most-followed-latin-american-newspaper-twitter
- Maslog, C. (2013, June 11). Easing megajams in cities. New Straits Times. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/results/docview/docview.do?docLinkInd=true&risb=21 _T27720690492&format=GNBFI&sort=DATE,D,H&startDocNo=51&resultsUrlKey=29_T2 7720690488&cisb=22_T27720695703&treeMax=true&treeWidth=0&csi=151977&docNo=7 5
- Matthes, J. (2009). What's in a Frame? A Content Analysis of Media Framing Studies in the World's Leading Communication Journals, 1990-2005. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 86, 349–367. https://doi.org/10.1177/107769900908600206
- Matthes, J., & Kohring, M. (2008). The Content Analysis of Media Frames: Toward Improving Reliability and Validity. *Journal of Communication*, 58(2), 258–279.
- Mejía, D. P. (2014, November 20). Gobierno aportará \$6 billones de pesos para el metro de Bogotá. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.elcolombiano.com/colombia/gobierno-aportara-6billones-de-pesos-para-el-metro-de-bogota-YX671504
- Miles33.com. (2013, November). Kompas Indonesia goes live with large Editorial CMS. Retrieved June 18, 2018, from http://www.miles33.com/news/news/5549/Kompas-Indonesia-goes-livewith-large-Editorial-CMS-website-and-ePaper-from-Miles33.html
- Monks, K. (2014, December 18). Wire the desert: The next generation of smart cities. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://edition.cnn.com/2014/12/18/business/smart-cities-next-generation/ index.html
- Moss, C. (2014, July 4). Bogota, Colombia: introducing the Athens of South America. *The Telegraph*. Retrieved from https://www.telegraph.co.uk/travel/destinations/south-america/colombia/ bogota/articles/Bogota-Colombia-introducing-the-Athens-of-South-America/

- Muhammadi, F. Z., & Elyda, C. (2013, June 10). Air pollution in city reaches alarming level. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2013/06/10/air-pollutioncity-reaches-alarming-level.html
- Murray, B., & Muong, V. (2014, August 16). A solution to the capital's transit woes? [Text]. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.phnompenhpost.com/post-weekend/solutioncapital%E2%80%99s-transit-woes
- Nazeer, Z. (2013a, January 24). Jakarta governor urged to do more to tackle problems; Joko's handson approach is good but concrete plans needed soon say analysts. *The Straits Times*. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/results/docview/docview.do?docLinkInd=true& risb=21_T27720690492&format=GNBFI&sort=DATE,D,H&startDocNo=76&resultsUrlKey =29_T27720690488&cisb=22_T27720695703&treeMax=true&treeWidth=0&csi=144965&d ocNo=80
- Nazeer, Z. (2013b, December 1). "Busway Kick" for errant motorists; Exasperated with city's traffic, retiree sticks out a leg at those who enter "bus only" lane. *The Straits Times*. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/auth/checkbrowser.do?ipcounter=1&cookieState=0&ra nd=0.3969626664474777&bhcp=1
- Newman, P., & Kenworthy, J. (2009). Traffic Calming. In S. M. Wheeler & T. Beatley (Eds.), *The Sustainable Urban Development Reader* (2nd ed.). 270 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10016: Routledge.
- Ojea, M. V. (2014, January 24). Los latinoamericanos pierden hasta cuatro horas diarias en embotellamientos. *El País*. Retrieved from https://elpais.com/internacional/2014/01/24/ actualidad/1390602903_519271.html
- Oliver, P., & Johnston, H. (2000). What a Good Idea! Ideologies and Frames in Social Movement Research. *Mobilization*, 5.
- Oliveros, V. T. (2015, May 4). Transmilenio: entre la seguridad y la política [Text]. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/bogota/transmilenio-entre-seguridad-y-politica-articulo-558661
- Progressive Media. (2014, August 7). Work to begin on new Transjakarta bus corridor in Indonesia. *Progressive Media*. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/auth/checkbrowser. do?ipcounter=1&cookieState=0&rand=0.4687056173759774&bhcp=1
- Rahmawati, L. (2014, September 17). Tersangka Korupsi Pengadaan Transjakarta Berkarat Udar Pristono Resmi Ditahan. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://megapolitan.kompas.com/ read/2014/09/17/19450411/Tersangka.Korupsi.Pengadaan.Transjakarta.Berkarat.Udar.Priston o.Resmi.Ditahan.
- Raul Dancel. (2015, August 8). Too many vehicles and too few roads. *The Straits Times (Singapore)*. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/api/version1/getDocCui?lni=5GMF-

VWR1-DYX4-0287&csi=270944,270077,11059,8411&hl=t&hv=t&hnsd=f&hns=t&hgn=t& oc=00240&perma=true

- Reed, D. (2015, May 26). How Curitiba's BRT stations sparked a transport revolution a history of cities in 50 buildings, day 43. *The Guardian*. Retrieved from http://www.theguardian.com/cities/2015/may/26/curitiba-brazil-brt-transport-revolutionhistory-cities-50-buildings
- Rein, M., & Schön, D. A. (1996). Frame-critical policy analysis and frame-reflective policy practice. *Knowledge and Policy*, 9(1), 85–104. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02832235
- Restrepo, V. (2015, October 29). Contraloría de Bogotá entregó informe de promesas incumplidas por Petro [News outlet]. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.elcolombiano.com/colombia/ politica/informe-30-deudas-de-gustavo-petro-con-bogota-EF3007688
- Riang, T. S. (2015, March 8). Lagi, Bus Transjakarta Buatan China Terbakar. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://megapolitan.kompas.com/read/2015/03/08/10344111/Lagi.Bus.Transjakarta. Buatan.China.Terbakar
- Rodríguez, D. A., & Targa, F. (2004). Value of accessibility to Bogotá's bus rapid transit system. *Transport Reviews*, 24(5), 587–610. https://doi.org/10.1080/0144164042000195081
- Román, M. (2010). Governing from the middle: the C40 Cities Leadership Group. *Corporate Governance: The International Journal of Business in Society*, *10*(1), 73–84.
- Rudi, A. (2014a, August 9). Patahnya Bus Gandeng, Pertama dalam Sejarah Transjakarta. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://megapolitan.kompas.com/read/2014/08/09/02291211/Patahnya. Bus.Gandeng.Pertama.dalam.Sejarah.Transjakarta
- Rudi, A. (2014b, August 11). Pekan Depan, Kartu Perdana "E-Ticket" Transjakarta Rp 40.000. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://megapolitan.kompas.com/read/2014/ 08/11/09311721/Pekan.Depan.Kartu.Perdana.E-Ticket.Transjakarta.Rp.40.000
- Rudi, A. (2015a, June 1). Tak Ada Bus, Penumpang Transjakarta Menumpuk di Halte PGC. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://megapolitan.kompas.com/read/2015/06/01/09125651/ Tak.Ada.Bus.Penumpang.Transjakarta.Menumpuk.di.Halte.PGC
- Rudi, A. (2015b, August 9). Bus Transjakarta Scania Diduga Kendaraan untuk Angkutan Barang. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://megapolitan.kompas.com/read/2015/08/09/07222821/ Bus.Transjakarta.Scania.Diduga.Kendaraan.untuk.Angkutan.Barang
- Schön, D. A., & Rein, M. (1994). Frame reflection: toward the resolution of intractable policy controversies. New York: BasicBooks.
- Semana. (2014a, February 14). Los 10 lunares de TransMilenio. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.semana.com/nacion/articulo/los-10-lunares-de-transmilenio/377131-3
- Semana. (2014b, March 8). ¿Por qué colapsó TransMilenio? Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.semana.com/nacion/articulo/transmilenio-colapso/379695-3

- Semana. (2014c, April 29). "Colados" en Transmilenio cuestan \$1.700 millones. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.semana.com/nacion/articulo/no-pagar-en-transmilenio-le-cuesta-1700-millones-bogota/385385-3
- Semana. (2014d, June 24). "Hay una reducción del 95 % del delito en Transmilenio." Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.semana.com/nacion/articulo/se-reducen-95-delitos-entransmilenio-policia/393239-3
- Semana. (2014e, September 15). Vuelve y juega la crisis en TransMilenio. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.semana.com/nacion/articulo/transmilenio-otra-vez-protestas-dejan-entrever-la-crisis/402881-3
- Semana. (2014f, September 30). Operadores de TransMilenio hablan para defenderse. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.semana.com/nacion/articulo/operadores-de-transmilenio-hablanpara-defenderse/404603-3
- Semana. (2015a, February 4). Bloqueos en Transmilenio causaron serios problemas de movilidad. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.semana.com/nacion/articulo/bloqueos-entransmilenio-causaron-serios-problemas-de-movilidad-en-bogota/416756-3
- Semana. (2015b, April 17). Transmilenio parará un minuto para generar conciencia entre colados. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.semana.com/nacion/articulo/muere-joven-tras-serarrollado-por-transmilenio/424437-3
- Semana. (2015c, April 29). Transmilenio: radican primera denuncia por robo masivo. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.semana.com/nacion/articulo/transmilenio-radican-primeradenuncia-por-robo-masivo/425829-3
- Semana. (2015d, August 25). Transmilenio: las pérdidas que dejó la hora valle. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.semana.com/nacion/articulo/transmilenio-las-perdidas-que-dejo-lahora-valle/439939-3
- Setiawati, I., & Dewi, S. W. (2014, January 28). Sexual harassment victims face hurdles in getting justice. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2014/01/28/ sexual-harassment-victims-face-hurdles-getting-justice.html
- Snow, D. A., Rochford, E. B., Worden, S. K., & Benford, R. D. (1986). Frame Alignment Processes, Micromobilization, and Movement Participation. *American Sociological Review*, 51(4), 464– 481. https://doi.org/10.2307/2095581
- South East Asian News. (2014, June 16). New Kopaja Buses Developed by Tata Motors Subsidiary. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/results/docview/docview.do?docLink Ind=true&risb=21_T27720690492&format=GNBFI&sort=DATE,D,H&startDocNo=51&resu ItsUrlKey=29_T27720690488&cisb=22_T27720695703&treeMax=true&treeWidth=0&csi=3 76967&docNo=65

- Suara Pembaruan. (2015a, January 1). Liburan Tahun Baru, Halte Transjakarta Padat. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://sp.beritasatu.com/home/liburan-tahun-baru-halte-transjakarta-padat/ 73667
- Suara Pembaruan. (2015b, January 11). Dikelola PT Transjakarta, Sistem Operasional Bus Tingkat Pariwisata Belum Berubah. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://sp.beritasatu.com/home/dikelola-pt-transjakarta-sistem-operasional-bus-tingkatpariwisata-belum-berubah/74677
- Suara Pembaruan. (2015c, May 6). Transjakarta Tambah Empat Koridor Layanan "Amari." Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://sp.beritasatu.com/home/transjakarta-tambah-empat-koridorlayanan-amari/86341
- Suara Pembaruan. (2015d, June 3). Basuki Tak Mau Kerja Sama dengan Operator Transjakarta Bersistem Lama. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://sp.beritasatu.com/nasional/basuki-takmau-kerja-sama-dengan-operator-transjakarta-bersistem-lama/88747
- Suara Pembaruan. (2015e, June 23). Pengendara Motor Tewas Dilindas Transjakarta. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://sp.beritasatu.com/home/pengendara-motor-tewas-dilindas-transjakarta/ 90400
- Suara Pembaruan. (2015f, June 26). Basuki Ingin Banyak Bus Tingkat di DKI. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://sp.beritasatu.com/home/basuki-ingin-banyak-bus-tingkat-di-dki/90686
- Suara Pembaruan. (2015g, June 26). DKI Imbau Kopami dan Metromini Gabung Transjakarta. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://sp.beritasatu.com/home/dki-imbau-kopami-danmetromini-gabung-transjakarta/90696
- Suara Pembaruan. (2015h, July 3). Bus Transjakarta Terbakar Lagi, Ini Tanggapan PT Transjakarta. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://sp.beritasatu.com/home/bus-transjakarta-terbakar-lagiini-tanggapan-pt-transjakarta/91207
- Suara Pembaruan. (2015i, October 21). Banyak Bus Transjakarta Tak Lulus Uji Kir, Ini Jawaban Basuki. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://sp.beritasatu.com/home/banyak-bus-transjakarta-tak-lulus-uji-kir-ini-jawaban-basuki/99431
- Suara Pembaruan. (2015j, November 23). Pemkot Bekasi Sambut Positif Wacana Perpanjangan Transjakarta. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://sp.beritasatu.com/home/pemkot-bekasisambut-positif-wacana-perpanjangan-transjakarta/102272
- Suara Pembaruan. (2015k, December 1). Transjakarta Berencana Buka "Feeder" Di Stasiun KRL. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://sp.beritasatu.com/home/transjakarta-berencana-bukafeeder-di-stasiun-krl/102971
- Suara Pembaruan. (20151, December 17). Pemprov DKI Minta Para Pengurus Metromini Bersatu. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://sp.beritasatu.com/home/pemprov-dki-minta-parapengurus-metromini-bersatu/104632
- Suara Pembaruan. (2015m, December 17). Supir Metro Mini Di Tanjung Priok Mau Bergabung

Dengan TransJakarta. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://sp.beritasatu.com/home/supirmetro-mini-di-tanjung-priok-mau-bergabung-dengan-transjakarta/104679

- Suara Pembaruan. (2015n, December 23). Pemprov DKI Resmikan 320 Unit Bus Transjakarta. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://sp.beritasatu.com/home/pemprov-dki-resmikan-320-unitbus-transjakarta/105115
- Suresh Ram. (2013, June 20). No sweat in Jakarta's 'macet'. *New Straits Times*, p. Comment; LOCAL.
- The Bangkok Post. (2013, February 7). Rain, rally bring traffic chaos to Jakarta. *The Bangkok Post*. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/results/docview/docview.do? docLinkInd=true&risb=21_T27720690492&format=GNBFI&sort=DATE,D,H&startDocNo=76&resultsUrlKey=29_T27720690488&cisb=22_T27720695703&treeMax=true&treeWidth=0&csi=410348&docNo=79
- The Economist. (2015, July 9). Dramatic solutions. *The Economist*. Retrieved from https://www.economist.com/the-americas/2015/07/09/dramatic-solutions
- The Express Tribune. (n.d.). Is the Lahore Metrobus a folly or far-sighted? *The Express Tribune*. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/results/docview/docview.do?docLink Ind=true&risb=21_T27720690492&format=GNBFI&sort=DATE,D,H&startDocNo=76&resu ltsUrlKey=29_T27720690488&cisb=22_T27720695703&treeMax=true&treeWidth=0&csi=3 81932&docNo=76
- The Jakarta Post. (2014a, September 3). Chinese-made buses taken off streets. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2014/09/03/chinese-made-buses-takenstreets. html
- The Jakarta Post. (2014b, November 26). China Daily. China Daily. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/results/docview/docview.do?docLinkInd=true&risb=21 _T27720690492&format=GNBFI&sort=DATE,D,H&startDocNo=51&resultsUrlKey=29_T2 7720690488&cisb=22_T27720695703&treeMax=true&treeWidth=0&csi=411370&docNo=5 9
- The Jakarta Post. (2015, June 19). City welcomes Transjakarta'€ ™s new fleet from Sweden. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2015/06/19/citywelcomes-transjakarta-s-new-fleet-sweden.html
- The Jakarta Post. (n.d.). Jakarta told to speed up development of public transportation [09 September 2015]. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2015/09/09/ jakarta-told-speed-development-public-transportation.html
- The Philippine Daily Inquirer. (2014, July 8). Rapid bus transit. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://opinion.inquirer.net/76371/rapid-bus-transit

- The World Bank. (2014, September 8). Sexual harassment: the high cost of being a woman on a bus [Text/HTML]. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/ 2014/09/08/gender-violence-public-transportation
- Tsan, K. F. (2013, July 9). How Ugly, Polluting Buses Can Drive Future Cities. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.cnbc.com/id/100870218
- Twitter. (2018, June 18). Kompas.com | Twitter. Retrieved June 18, 2018, from twitter.com/kompas.com
- Valenzuela, S. (2014, February 18). "Irrespeto en la fila, el problema más común en Transmilenio" [Text]. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/bogota/irrespetofila-el-problema-mas-comun-transmilenio-articulo-475628
- VOA News. (2014, October 29). Public Transport in Latin America, Asia Most Dangerous for Women. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://www.voanews.com/a/public-transport-in-latinamerica-asia-most-dangerous-for-women/2500198.html
- Wallace, A. (2014, August 26). Colombian anti-groping squad goes to work. *BBC News*. Retrieved from https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-latin-america-28925622
- Wardhani, D. A. (2014, August 8). Rape victims "blamed" in Indonesian culture. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2014/08/08/rape-victims-blamed-indonesianculture.html
- Wardhani, D. A. (2015a, June 27). Women fend for themselves on unsafe public transportation system. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2015/06/27 /women-fend-themselves-unsafe-public-transportation-system.html
- Wardhani, D. A. (2015b, October 29). App for Transjakarta commuters launched. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2015/10/29/app-transjakarta-commuterslaunched.html
- Wardhani, D. A., & Elyda, C. (2015, January 16). APTB to be coordinated by Transjakarta. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2015/01/16/aptb-be-coordinatedtransjakarta.html
- Wardhani, D. A., & Parlina, I. (2015, December 8). Blame game after Metro Mini collision. Retrieved July 12, 2018, from http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2015/12/08/blame-game-aftermetro-mini-collision.html
- Wheeler, S. M., & Beatley, T. (Eds.). (2009). Urban Sustainability at the City and Regional Scale: Bogotà, Colombia. In *The Sustainable Urban Development Reader* (2nd ed.). 270 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10016: Routledge.
- Wiwoho, L. H. (2014, February 17). Transjakarta Dibawa ke Mana? Retrieved July 12, 2018, from https://megapolitan.kompas.com/read/2014/02/17/0708592/Transjakarta.Dibawa.ke.Mana.
- WMI Company News. (2014a, August 7). Work to begin on new Transjakarta bus corridor in Indonesia. World Market Intelligence. Retrieved from

http://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/results/docview/docview.do?docLinkInd=true&risb= 21_T27720690492&format=GNBFI&sort=DATE,D,H&startDocNo=51&resultsUrlKey=29 _T27720690488&cisb=22_T27720695703&treeMax=true&treeWidth=0&csi=399660 &docNo=63

- WMI Company News. (2014b, December 18). Wirecard provides e-ticketing system for TransJakartaBusway.WorldMarketIntelligence.Retrievedfromhttp://www.lexisnexis.com/lnacui2api/results/docview/docview.do?docLinkInd=true&risb=21_T27720690492&format=GNBFI&sort=DATE,D,H&startDocNo=51&resultsUrlKey=29_T27720690488&cisb=22_T27720695703&treeMax=true&treeWidth=0&csi=399660&docNo=58
- Wright, L. (2003). Module 3b: Bus Rapid Transit. In K. Fjellstrom (Ed.), Sustainable Transport: A Sourcebook for Policy-makers in Developing Cities. Eschborn, Germany: Deutsche Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ) GmbH. Retrieved from http://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/112/1/BRT_e-book.pdf

ANNEX A: Table 1

Table 1. Mean Values and Standard Deviations for TransMilenio Frames, Domestic and International (2013-2015)					
Frame elements and corresponding variables	Description/sub-topics included	Domestic Coverage (n=50), x̄(SD)	International Coverage (n=25), x̄(SD)		
PROBLEM DEFINITION					
Topic: Congestion	Number of vehicles on roads added/reduced	added/reduced 0.22 (0.42)			
Topic: Cost-efficient transport	Implementing effective transport policy at-cost	0.14 (0.35)	0.60 (0.50)		
Topic: Climate change mitigation	Emissions reduction and other environmental benefits	0.02 (0.14)	0.20 (0.41)		
Topic: Budget use	System procurements, corruption allegations	0.46 (0.50)	0.28 (0.46)		
Topic: System/fleet changes	Route changes, fleet additions/retirements, new routes/corridors, system enhancements, fare changes	0.20 (0.41)			
Topic: Accidents	Fires, road-based accidents, injuries as a result of boarding attempts	0.34 (0.40)	0.20 (0.41)		
Topic: Turnstile skipping	Passengers skipping turnstiles at BRT stations to avoid payment, risking lives by crossing streets with moving traffic	0.34 (0.48)	0.04 (0.20)		
Topic: Mugging	Theft/robbery of personal belongings, with the potential for injury	0.32 (0.47)	0.12 (0.33)		
Topic: Overcrowding	Surplus of passengers at BRT stations or on BRT buses, compromising personal space and comfort	0.36 (0.48)	0.4 (0.50)		
Topic: Link-up with other transport services	BRT operators partner with other companies/organizations/service to enhance service delivery	_	0.36 (0.49)		
Topic: Gender-based abuse	Abuse of women using the BRT system	0.40 (0.49)	0.24 (0.44)		
Topic: TransMilenio as good practice	BRT system as a 'good practice' to be replicated elsewhere		0.60 (0.50)		
Topic: TransMilenio as largest system	BRT system as largest, or one of the largest, in the world				
Topic: TransMilenio status quo is insufficient	BRT system status quo in need of policy changes		0.64 (0.49)		
Topic: TransMilenio was great before, is worse now	BRT system formerly favored, now has fallen out of favor	_	0.28 (0.46)		

Table 1. Mean Values and Standard Deviations for TransMilenio Frames, Domestic and International (2013-2015)					
Frame elements and corresponding variables	Description/sub-topics included	Domestic Coverage (n=50), x̄(SD)	International Coverage (n=25), x̄(SD)		
Topic: Plans for improvement	BRT system is subject to plans for improvement announced by operator or policymaker		0.32 (0.48)		
Actor: TransMilenio operators/spokespersons		0.88 (0.33)	0.96 (0.20)		
Actor: Mayor/policymaker	_	0.50 (0.51)	0.96 (0.20)		
Actor: Passenger/pedestrian		0.76 (0.43)	0.48 (0.51)		
CAUSAL INTERPRETATION					
Benefit attribution: TransMilenio operators/spokespersons	System operators/spokespersons are responsible for benefits to the BRT system	0.26 (0.44)	0.68 (0.48)		
Benefit attribution: Mayor/policymaker	Mayors/policymakers are responsible for benefits to the BRT system	0.24 (0.43)	0.84 (0.37)		
Benefit attribution: Passenger/pedestrian	Passengers/pedestrians are responsible for benefits to the BRT system	0.06 (0.24)	0.04 (0.20)		
Risk attribution: TransMilenio operators/spokespersons	System operators/spokespersons are responsible for risks to the BRT system 0.58 (0.5		0.56 (0.51)		
Risk attribution: Mayor/policymaker	Mayors/policymakers are responsible for risks to the BRT system	0.34 (0.48)	0.56 (0.51)		
Risk attribution: Passenger/pedestrian	Passengers/pedestrians are responsible for risks to the BRT system	0.52 (0.50)	0.28 (0.46)		
MORAL EVALUATION					
Benefits: Congestion	BRT reduces congestion	0.06 (0.24)	0.52 (0.51)		
Benefits: Cost-efficient transport	BRT reduces costs while maintaining efficacy (relative to other transport options)	0.10 (0.30)	0.56 (0.51)		
Benefits: Climate change mitigation	BRT mitigates climate change through emissions reduction and increased passenger capacity	0.02 (0.14)	0.20 (0.41)		
Benefits: Good practice example	BRT is an example of 'good practice' for policymakers around the world	_	0.64 (0.49)		
Benefits: Link-up with other travel services	BRT partners with other organizations		0.32 (0.48)		
Benefits: Time-savings	BRT reduces total traveling time — 0.40				

Table 1. Mean Values and Standard Deviations for TransMilenio Frames, Domestic and International (2013-2015)					
Frame elements and corresponding variables	Description/sub-topics included	Domestic Coverage (n=50), x̄(SD)	International Coverage (n=25), x̄(SD)		
Benefits: Plans for improvement	BRT is buoyed by announced plans for improvement		0.36 (0.49)		
Risks: Budget use	Actors are responsible for BRT misuse funds / Unfulfilled promises, contracts	0.36 (0.48)	0.20 (0.41)		
Risks: Accidents	BRT is prone to accidents	0.32 (0.47)	0.12 (0.33)		
Risks: Turnstile skipping	BRT is prone to turnstile skipping	0.34 (0.48)	0.08 (0.28)		
Risks: Mugging	BRT is prone to mugging	0.30 (0.46)	0.12 (0.33)		
Risks: Overcrowding	BRT is prone to overcrowding within buses and at stations 0.32 (0.47)		0.32 (0.48)		
Risks: Gender-based abuse	BRT is prone to gender-based abuse	0.42 (0.50)	0.24 (0.44)		
Risks: Congestion	BRT contributes to congestion	—	0.32 (0.48)		
Risks: Time-consuming	BRT increases total traveling time —		0.32 (0.48)		
Risks: TransMilenio was great before, worse now	BRT system was better in the past, but delivers a lower-quality service now	ter in the past, quality service —			
Risks: TransMilenio status quo	BRT status quo is an insufficient transport option for the city	0.80 (0.40)	0.60 (0.50)		
TREATMENT RECOMMENDA	TION				
Judgment: Dissatisfied/Satisfied*	In summary, coverage is dissatisfied/satisfied with the BRT system	2.28 (1.21)	3.92 (1.61)		
 * The 'Judgment' variable is a scal 1 = 'very dissatisfied' 2 = 'somewhat dissatisfied' 3 = 'slightly dissatisfied' 4 = 'neither satisfied nor dissatisfied' 5 = 'slightly satisfied' 6 = 'somewhat satisfied' 7 = 'very satisfied' 	ed response from 1-7, where:				

ANNEX B: Table 2

Table 2. Mean Values and Standard Deviations for TransJakarta Frames, Domestic and International (2013-2015)						
Frame elements and corresponding variables	Description/sub-topics included	Domestic Coverage (n=50), x̄(SD)	International Coverage (n=25), x̄(SD)			
PROBLEM DEFINITION						
Topic: Budget use	System procurements, corruption allegations0.54 (0.50)		0.32 (0.48)			
Topic: System/fleet changes	Route changes, fleet additions/retirements, new routes/corridors, system enhancements, fare changes0.76 (0.43)		0.52 (0.51)			
Topic: Accidents	Fires, road-based accidents, injuries as a result of boarding attempts	0.22 (0.42)	0.04 (0.20)			
Topic: Gender-based abuse	Abuse of women using the BRT system	0.06 (0.24)	_			
Topic: Congestion	Number of vehicles on roads added/reduced 0.12 (0.33		0.56 (0.51)			
Topic: Travel time	Amount of journey time on BRT		0.56 (0.51)			
Topic: Cost-efficient transport	Implementing effective transport policy at-cost	0.26 (0.44)	0.28 (0.46)			
Topic: Climate change mitigation	Emissions reduction and other environmental benefits 0.04 (0.2		_			
Topic: Turnstile skipping	Passengers skipping turnstiles at BRT stations to avoid payment, risking lives by crossing streets with moving traffic	_	_			
Topic: Mugging	Theft/robbery of personal belongings, with the potential for injury					
Topic: Overcrowding	Surplus of passengers at BRT stations or on BRT buses, compromising personal space and comfort	0.10 (0.30)	0.12 (0.33)			
Topic: Bus faults	On-board fires and other bus malfunctions	0.18 (0.39)	0.04 (0.20)			
Topic: TransJakarta as good practice	BRT system as a 'good practice' to be (0.36 (0.49)			
Topic: TransJakarta as largest	BRT system as largest, or one of the 0		0.16 (0.37)			
Topic: TransJakarta status quo is insufficient	BRT system status quo in need of 0		0.36 (0.49)			
Topic: Link-up with other transport services	BRT operators partner with other companies/organizations/service to enhance service delivery		0.40 (0.50)			

Table 2. Mean Values and Standard Deviations for TransJakarta Frames, Domestic and International(2013-2015)					
Frame elements and corresponding variables	Description/sub-topics included	Domestic Coverage (n=50), x̄(SD)	International Coverage (n=25), x̄(SD)		
Actor: TransJakarta operators/spokespersons		0.86 (0.35)	0.72 (0.46)		
Actor: Jakarta Transportation Agency	Agency in charge of procuring equipment and overseeing transportation development	0.22 (0.42)	0.00 (0.00)		
Actor: Office of the Attorney- General	Office in charge of auditing BRT system procurements	0.08 (0.27)	_		
Actor: Governor or other policymaker	—	0.54 (0.50)	0.68 (0.48)		
Actor: Passenger/pedestrian	—	0.34 (0.48)	0.28 (0.46)		
CAUSAL INTERPRETATION					
Benefit attribution: TransJakarta operators/spokespersons	System operators/spokespersons are responsible for benefits to the BRT system	0.44 (0.50)	0.44 (0.51)		
Benefit attribution: Governor or other policymaker	Governors/policymakers are responsible for benefits to the BRT system	0.44 (0.50)	0.44 (0.51)		
Benefit attribution: Passenger/pedestrian	Passengers/pedestrians are responsible for benefits to the BRT system	_			
Benefit attribution: Office of the Attorney-General	The Office of the Attorney-General is responsible for benefits to the BRT system 0.06 (0.24)				
Risk attribution: TransJakarta operators/spokespersons	System operators/spokespersons are responsible for risks to the BRT system	0.40 (0.49)	0.12 (0.33)		
Risk attribution: Governor or other policymaker	Governors/policymakers are responsible for risks to the BRT 0.18 (0.3 system		0.24 (0.44)		
Risk attribution: Passenger/pedestrian	Passengers/pedestrians are responsible for risks to the BRT system	0.08 (0.27)	0.08 (0.28)		
Risk attribution: Jakarta Transportation Agency	The Agency is responsible for risks to the BRT system0.22 (0.42)		_		
Risk attribution: Other drivers	Other drivers in non-BRT lanes are responsible for risks to the BRT system	_	0.32 (0.48)		
MORAL EVALUATION					

Table 2. Mean Values and Standard Deviations for TransJakarta Frames, Domestic and International (2013-2015)					
Frame elements and corresponding variables	Description/sub-topics included	Domestic Coverage (n=50), x̄(SD)	International Coverage (n=25), x̄(SD)		
Benefits: Congestion	BRT reduces congestion	0.28 (0.45)	0.40 (0.50)		
Benefits: Travel time	BRT reduces total traveling time		0.44 (0.51)		
Benefits: Cost-efficient transport	BRT reduces costs while maintaining efficacy (relative to other transport options)	0.28 (0.46)			
Benefits: Climate change mitigation	BRT mitigates climate change through emissions reduction and increased passenger capacity	0.04 (0.20)			
Benefits: Good practice example	BRT is an example of 'good practice' for policymakers around the world	_	0.32 (0.48)		
Benefits: Link-up with other travel services	BRT partners with other organizations to enhance its service	0.30 (0.46)	0.40 (0.50)		
Benefits: Plans for improvement	BRT is buoyed by announced plans for improvement	—	—		
Risks: Budget use	Actors are responsible for BRT misuse funds / Unfulfilled promises, contracts	0.28 (0.45)	0.08 (0.28)		
Risks: Accidents	BRT is prone to accidents	0.20 (0.40)	0.04 (0.20)		
Risks: Gender-based abuse	BRT is prone to gender-based abuse	0.06 (0.24)	_		
Risks: Turnstile skipping	BRT is prone to turnstile skipping	_	—		
Risks: Mugging	BRT is prone to mugging	_	—		
Risks: Other vehicles encroaching on designated BRT lanes	Other drivers encroaching on BRT lanes are responsible for risks to the BRT system	—	0.28 (0.46)		
Risks: Overcrowding	BRT is prone to overcrowding within buses and at stations	0.08 (0.27)	0.08 (0.28)		
Risks: Great before, worse now	BRT system was better in the past, but delivers a lower-quality service now				
Risks: Congestion	BRT system is responsible for		0.20 (0.41)		
Risks: Time-consuming	BRT system is responsible for		0.16 (0.37)		
Risks: Bus faults	BRT is prone to fires, rips, and malfunctions 0.20 (0.40)		0.04 (0.20)		
Risks: TransJakarta status quo	BRT status quo is an insufficient transport option for the city	0.48 (0.50)	0.32 (0.48)		
TREATMENT RECOMMENDATION					

Table 2. Mean Values and Standard Deviations for TransJakarta Frames, Domestic and International (2013-2015)							
Frame elements and corresponding variables	Domestic Coverage (n=50), x̄(SD)	International Coverage (n=25), x̄(SD)					
Judgment: Dissatisfied/Satisfied*	3.82 (1.45)	4.12 (1.30)					
* The 'Judgment' variable is a scaled response from 1-7, where: 1 = 'very dissatisfied' 2 = 'somewhat dissatisfied' 3 = 'slightly dissatisfied' 4 = 'neither satisfied nor dissatisfied' 5 = 'slightly satisfied' 6 = 'somewhat satisfied' 7 = 'very satisfied'							

Mundus MAPP Thesis Report Author's Declaration Form

I, the undersigned Series Jave The hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis report. To the best of my knowledge this thesis report contains no material previously published by any other person except where proper acknowledgement has been made. This thesis report contains no material which has been accepted as part of the requirements of any other academic degree or non-degree program, in English or in any other language.

This is a true copy of the thesis report, including final revisions.

Name (printed):

Date:

Signature:

108/2017

Urban Avengers Assemble:

The policy impacts of transmunicipal collaboration networks on climate change mitigation efforts in three Southeast Asian cities

Benjamin Jance IV CEU ID# 181404

Thesis Year 1 Supervisor: Achim Kemmerling Thesis Year 2 Supervisor: Pablo Pareja

31 August 2017

INTRODUCTION

In light of U.S. American withdrawal from the widely-acclaimed Paris Climate Agreement in June 2017, both practitioners and researchers have placed greater importance on the role of cities in efforts to mitigate and adapt to the threat of climate change (Acosta and Liptak, 2017; Fountain and Tabuchi, 2017; Schlossberg and Popovich, 2017; Walker, 2017). The perceived void that the U.S. is expected to leave with its departure from the Agreement opens the door for municipalities around the world to lead by example through policy gains in sustainable urban development. While recent research has focused on the role of 'global north' cities in the U.S. and Europe, there has been growing interest for examining policy gains in Southeast Asia, which is home to more than 645 million people and comprises greater than 8.6% of the global total (UN-DESA, 2017). Concurrently, transmunicipal collaboration networks have emerged as the premier facilitators of municipal policy gains in sustainable urban development (Román, 2010; Bulkeley and Cástan Broto, 2013; Lee and Koski, 2014; Aust, 2015; Trencher et al., 2016). One such network, the C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group (C40 Cities), was established in 2005 and is now comprised of more than 90 municipalities around the world focused on climate change mitigation and adaptation. The network achieves its aims through leadership connections, expert advice, and policy influence. To-date, C40 Cities claims to have facilitated 10,000 actions to combat climate change under its six initiative areas that encompass both mitigation and adaptation while safeguarding the principle of sustainability (C40 Cities). Combined, the increasing importance in the role of cities as facilitators of sustainable urban development - especially in the emerging economies of Southeast Asia - and the rise of transmunicipal collaboration networks like C40 Cities offer both a critical set public policy efforts to mitigate the effects of climate change and an academic gap to be explored.

Through a close examination of this crossroads, I pose the following question: to what extent do transmunicipal collaboration networks like the C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group achieve policy gains for sustainable urban development in Southeast Asian cities of differing population densities? In this comparative case study, I focus on Bangkok, Thailand;

Jakarta, Indonesia; and Quezon City, Philippines as three cities whose population densities vary by up to two standard deviations. I examine municipal policy gains achieved with the facilitation of C40 Cities with data collected from city-level policy inventories and semi-structured interviews with C40 and government officials. Ultimately, I apply my findings to shed light on the extent to which the network delivers on its claim to accelerate climate change mitigation and adaptation strategies at the local level, despite three significantly different population densities in the selected municipalities.

The findings of this paper carry several key implications for researchers and policymakers in sustainable urban development. First, if the C40 Cities impact does indeed result in significant policy gains for the included sample cities, it suggests that other municipalities in developing contexts can leverage the power of transmunicipal collaboration networks to replicate their results. Second, if there are population density-based discrepancies in the extent to which sustainable urban development policy gains are achieved, the research could suggest a need to adapt urban planning and growth policies to local conditions and needs. Finally, if both findings come to fruition, then this paper could ultimately suggest that a preferred strategy for tackling climate change impacts and carbon emissions reduction in cities lies in leveraging the resources of transmunicipal collaboration networks - like C40 Cities - to tailor such policies to the unique needs of each municipality.

FROM COUNTRIES TO CITIES

In June 2017, U.S. American President Donald Trump declared his country's withdrawal from the Paris Agreement, the world's first legally-binding deal focused on reducing carbon emissions in the effort to mitigate the effects of climate change (Acosta and Liptak, 2017; European Commission, 2017). While supporters of the Trump administration viewed the move as a flagship element of the President's 'America First' campaign, critics interpreted the act as a sign of refusal to build on his predecessor's progressive emissions reduction targets (Acosta and Liptak, 2017; Shear, 2017). If anything, critics argued, U.S. American withdrawal from the Paris Agreement paved the way for climate leadership from

some of its biggest economic rivals, including China and India: the other two countries that round out the top three global carbon emitters list (Damassa et al., 2014).

In the days and weeks following President Trump's declaration however, several cities and their respective leaders across the U.S. responded with passionate statements of their own, highlighting continued commitments to the Paris Agreement. The mayors of Austin, TX, Milwaukee, WI, San Diego, CA, Pittsburgh, PA, and Washington, D.C. were just some of the many who immediately responded on Twitter in solidarity with both continued and planned commitments to policies favoring renewable energy and sustainable development (Fountain and Tabuchi, 2017; Schlossberg and Popovich, 2017). According to one report, a total of 331 U.S. American mayors signed onto the Climate Mayors agreement, which bucks President Trump's declaration in favor of local-level carbon emissions reduction targets, amongst a host of other sustainable development initiatives (Walker, 2017). The 331 mayors, who represent more than 65 million U.S. Americans in more than 40 states, explicitly stated a variety of commitments - including the ambitious limiting of global temperature change to +1.5 degrees Celsius - in a strong and pointed response to the national government's new stance on the Paris Agreement. As the federal government retracts from its role in international climate negotiations, cities and local governments have offered a rebuke that is emblematic of their growing relevance in development policy.

While press coverage has increased for cities who remain steadfast in their commitments to climate change mitigation strategies, their role in fostering sustainable methods of urban development is not new. The combination of continued global urbanization and rising greenhouse gas emissions has ushered in an era of 'local' leadership on climate action, where cities are uniquely placed to better address corresponding policy windows (Campbell 1996; Brugmann, 2009; Pierre and Peters, 2015; Stren, 2015; Hirt 2016). Climate action at the local level is a subset of the broader principal-agent dynamic, where 'principal' countries are incentivized to delegate responsibilities to 'agent' cities in attempts to meet national-level commitments (Thatcher and Stone Sweet, 2003; Weimer and Vining, 2011). In countries where decision-making power is decentralized and delegated to cities and towns,

CEU eTD Collection

the potential for local policy reform on hot-button issues - including sustainable development and climate change mitigation - increases. For many of the 195 signatories to the Paris Agreement, national-level policies and commitments targeting sustainable development are thus translated into local-level initiatives across constituent cities.

However, there is disagreement as to whether municipalities are able to address pressing issues like climate change despite the powers granted by decentralization and the pressure of policy and problem streams (see Kingdon, 1984 in Weimer and Vining, 2011). Critics of the principal-agent relationship often highlight discrepancies in national-level policy and local-level outcomes (Thatcher and Stone Sweet, 2003; Weimer and Vining, 2011). For one, elected representatives are often torn between policy actions that match those of their own local-level constituents, their national- or regional- level principals, and their own conception of the 'common good'. Faced with this dilemma, policy outcomes are less likely to match the exact expectations of a single stakeholder. Agents, as critics of the theory are quick to point out, maintain incentives to deviate from the directives of their principals.

$$Z = \sum Xi - \sum Yi$$
 (1)

Thatcher and Stone Sweet (2003) apply the 'zone of discretion' model,

where Z is the zone of discretion, \sum Xi is the sum of delegated powers (referred to as policy discretion) and \sum Yi is the principal's ability to control and shape policy outcomes. The zone of discretion, therefore, is largely predicated on both the powers offered to cities via decentralization and the security afforded to those powers. However, discretion may be further reduced when considering the strength of an agent's willingness to pursue the

$$Z = \sum Xi - \sum Yi - \sum Wi$$
 (2)

'common good':

where any positive, non-zero value assigned to \sum Wi minimizes the zone of discretion. Unless provisions are made to increase the powers of the municipality as agent in its relationship

with the national government, the burden of the amount of total discretion often relies on the resistance its principal provides.

Pierre and Peters (2015: 72), citing the unprecedented importance of formal political bodies in municipalities, argue that the potential for increased policy discretion in cities as agents can diminish further. What the authors call a "web of institutional, economic, and political constraints" could limit municipal policymakers in their ability to address popular and pressing challenges at their own discretion. Referring to the constitution as a set of rules to which cities are bound and individual ambitions limited, policy choices at the local level may be further reduced thanks to the institutional frameworks already in place.

However, in the context of cities, climate change mitigation, and sustainable development, the literature is not as clear-cut as the criticism may suggest. In fact, in highlighting the challenges to municipal agenda-setting, Sapotichne and Jones (2005: 444) warn that a lack of multi-level governance analysis threatens the validity of urban political theory and policy. Ultimately, the authors argue that the traditional research focus on the "structural limitations" of any urban agenda (e.g. a municipality's zone of discretion) jeopardizes closer examination of the factors that facilitate sufficient space for policy reform. For example, the strength of policy entrepreneurship in devising new solutions to institutional and structural challenges is often understated. The policy feedback loop also provides opportunities for policymakers to evaluate performance over time and make the necessary adjustments in order to retain the best chance of success. In the sustainable urban development agenda, the globalization of issues like emissions reduction, climate change mitigation, and waste management have facilitated the entry of policy actors from distance: a critical step in building preference intensity amongst a given set of policymakers.

The entrance of international players as key influences in local contexts has given birth to a sustainable urban development agenda that features shared policy components. TransMilenio, the bus rapid transit (BRT) system in Bogotá, Colombia installed by then-Mayor Enrique Peñalosa in December 2000, was followed by an adapted 'TransJakarta' version in Jakarta, Indonesia in January 2004. The quantity and quality of bicycling lanes has

greatly increased, with emerging municipalities like Wuhan, China and Mexico City, Mexico following the example of bicycle-happy cities like Copenhagen, Stockholm, and London (C40 Cities). Even the spread of decentralization policy and local governance best practices have spread widely, with states like Indonesia, Thailand, and the Philippines serving as evolving examples for fellow emerging cities in developing countries. Decentralized governance, while flawed, has been legally enforced in each of these countries since 1999, 1997, and 1991, respectively (Eaton, 2001; Nelson, 2002; Green, 2005; Guess, 2005; Legaspi, 2010). Affording political and financial power to sub-national governance levels allows for greater policy manoeuvring across different fields, enabling rapid growth and development in cities like Bangkok, Jakarta, and Quezon City. In the sustainable urban development agenda context, it appears that cities who maintain both a plethora of socioeconomic contexts and a young, but evolving brand of decentralized governance buck critics' claims to the "structural limitations" that restrict the discretion of local policymakers in their pursuit of policy adoption and implementation. An investigation of C40 Cities' impact on the climate change mitigation policy landscape in an emerging municipality context could shed light on local governance alternatives conducive to policy uptake.

C40 CITIES: BACKING THE CLAIMS

Since its inception in 2005, C40 Cities has established itself as a network that connects policymakers and stakeholders in some 91 cities around the world. These connections facilitate policy learning, uptake, and action through 17 subject-specific networks that are bracketed under six initiative areas (see Table 1). With strategic funding provided by Bloomberg Philanthropies, the Children's Investment Fund Foundation, and Realdania, the organization claims that "one third of the actions member cities reported were directly influenced by collaboration within cities, 80% within C40" (C40 Cities). This collaboration, C40 believes, was established through a four-point approach: to connect city officials around the world, showcase leading ideas and solutions, advise partner cities based on learned experiences, and influence multi-level policy agendas using the increasing bargaining power of cities. Table 1 reflects initiatives and policy areas that Keil and Whitehead (2015:533) term

"ambient urban sustainabilities," encompassing legislation that affects pollution, park provision, public transport improvements, building efficiency, and labor rights. True to the authors' argument, C40 Cities has identified and capitalized on the specific types of sustainable urban development that attract significant economic and environmental benefits.

Table 1. C40 Initiatives and Networks (adapted from C40 Cities)				
Overarching initiative	Subject-specific network			
Adaptation and water	Climate risk assessment Connecting delta cities Cool cities			
Energy	District energy Municipal building efficiency Private building efficiency			
Finance and economic development	Green growth Sustainable infrastructure finance			
Measurement and planning	Measurement Reporting			
Solid waste management	Sustainable solid waste systems Waste-to-resources			
Transportation	Bus rapid transit Low emission vehicles Mobility management			
Urban planning and development	Climate positive development program Food systems Land use planning Low-carbon districts Transit oriented development			

Despite its youth, many have heralded C40's role in accelerating GHG emissions reduction via policy learning and a market-mechanism approach that fosters investments in technology and capacity-building (Román, 2010; Bulkeley and Cástan Broto, 2013; Lee and Koski, 2014; Aust, 2015; Trencher et al., 2016). Román (2010) highlights achievements that include energy efficiency improvements for buildings across 20 cities, as well as waste management, public transport, and forestry initiatives in cities spanning different socioeconomic backgrounds, including New Delhi, Lagos, Johannesburg, and Houston. The promotion of action where possible for cities, honing in on local comparative advantages in the policy feasibility context, is a key factor in the network's early success. Bulkeley and

Cástan Broto (2013) build on this finding, leveraging an analysis of 627 urban climate change experiments in 100 cities around the world to conclude that the increased collaboration between public and private networks - facilitated by organizations like C40 Cities - has ushered in an era of technical intervention in areas deemed necessary.

Lee and Koski (2014), meanwhile, provide a quantitative endorsement of the transmunicipal network impact highlighting that the strongest predictor of climate change-focused urban policies is membership in the Cities for Climate Protection (CCP) campaign. Developed and initiated by ICLEI, a transmunicipal collaborative network founded in 1991, the CCP campaign features a five-step policy cycle process of measurement, commitment, planning, implementing, and monitoring to which members are held accountable (ICLEI). While the commitments made under the auspices of membership are not legally-binding, the study's authors argue that the self-selection of city governments into membership networks like the CCP campaign is indicative of their willingness to introduce climate change legislation. With more than 1,000 cities now directly or indirectly part of the CCP movement, this repeated interaction between local governments has developed into a key cog for the climate change mitigation agenda. The interactive power of membership reflects Dowding and Feiock's (2015:43) claim that repeated interaction stimulates the formation of cooperative agreements and reciprocal behavior.

Aust (2015), building on Román (2010), sheds light on the C40 Cities policy learning mechanism that facilitates the commitment that Lee and Koski (2014) note: hybrid organization structures. While the C40 Cities focus on relationships with governments is well-documented, Aust hones in on the organization's simultaneous capacity-building networks with private bodies, including The Clinton Foundation and The Rockefeller Foundation (264). These relationships, Aust argues, are key attractors of investment and philanthropic funding that drive city-based climate change initiatives forward. Placed alongside C40's technical partnerships with companies like Siemens, and the network is primed to be a hub for best practices across the governance, funding, and technical aspects of the sustainable urban development agenda.

CHALLENGES TO SUCCESS

Despite the praises afforded to C40 Cities as a network that fosters policy learning through a hybrid organizational structure and local government connections, criticisms of its recent efforts continue to permeate the literature. Román (2010) tempers his praise of the network with limitations on its capacity-building power, transparency, and judicial contradictions in cities where its expertise is more limited. The author suggests that networks like C40 Cities are, to an extent, only as strong as the cities they partner with on the ground. If local resources are insufficient for the introduction, execution, and assessment of C40-inspired initiatives steeped in best practices garnered from peer cities, then the network's impact will be relatively tame. While Román argues that part of C40's mandate is to introduce best practices to low-resource cities that need them most, he maintains that the asymmetries in capacity between the network and its local government partners still hamper the potential for progress.

Further criticism also extends to the C40 claim of GHG emissions reductions in cities. Román cites methodological gaps, namely the existence of consumption-based variation in urban emissions coupled with the significant room for measurement error both within and between urban boundaries, as reasons for which the network's claims to this particular aspect of climate change mitigation should be taken with a grain of salt. Focusing on aggregate emissions remains a methodological debate, as such analyses often fail to account for intervening factors that could positively or negatively impact the emissions coming from cities. Bouteligier (2013) compounds this critique, highlighting pre-existing climate change mitigation efforts and the perpetuation of the North-South divide amongst member cities. She argues that despite the network's best efforts to involve cities from what she terms the 'global south', the extent to which they are at the forefront of policy innovation, financial support, and technical entrepreneurship remains limited by their status as secondfiddles to cities in the 'global north'. This divide forms a pillar of the rationale behind the questions I pose in this paper, which center on the network's efforts to mitigate climate change in the developing context - namely that of three Southeast Asian cities.

Contextualized in more recent efforts to address the effects of climate change in urban spaces around the world, Keil and Whitehead (2015: 535) highlight that the type of impact organizations like C40 strive for would recategorize the "process" of sustainable urban development into a "period." This period, they argue, paves the way for a more accurate "set of global policy collaborations" that enables knowledge-sharing across more cities than ever, and at a level more profound than at any other point in history. Overcoming the challenges that Román (2010) and Bouteligier (2013) expose is key to transforming "process" into "period."

SOUTHEAST ASIA: A STORY OF POPULATION DENSITY

The selection of Bangkok, Jakarta, and Quezon City as the foci of the policy impact assessment facilitates research in a densely-populated and emerging market context at the heart of Southeast Asia. A review of policy effects in the region addresses Bouteligier (2013)'s north-south divide critique from an internally valid perspective, examining cities ostensibly based in the 'global south' but whose economies deliver a global impact across a variety of sectors. At the national level, Thailand (0.740), Indonesia (0.689), and the Philippines (0.682) score similarly on the human development index: a ranking of countries based on life expectancy, access to education, and gross national income that captures a snapshot of human well-being (UNDP, 2016). The three countries also share the same regional socioeconomic block, ASEAN, whose latest 2008 charter increased the degree of interconnectedness amongst its ten member nations (Tan, 2008). At the city-level, there is a significant degree of similarity from a policy feasibility perspective, with decentralized governance established before the turn of the century (Nelson, 2002; Green, 2005; Guess, 2005; Legaspi, 2010).

Table 2. Key demographic figures for Bangkok, Jakarta, and Quezon City							
Bangkok Jakarta Quezon City Mean Standard deviation							
Population* (people, millions)	5.7	9.6	3.27	6.19	3.2		
Population density* (people/km ²)	3,627	14,502	20,310	12,813	8,468.8		

Table 2. Key demographic figures for Bangkok, Jakarta, and Quezon City					
GDP* (US\$, billions)	307	321	292	307	14.5
Urban share of national population, 2016** (%)	51.5	54.5	44.3	50	5.2
National urban population growth, 2016** (%)	2.6	2.5	1.4	2.2	7

Critically however, Table 2 highlights key demographic differences between the three cities, wherefrom variation in urban development may occur. Bangkok, while closest to the total population mean amongst the three cities, maintains the lowest population density with 3,627 people per square kilometer (people/km²). This presents a stark contrast to Quezon City, whose population density breaches 20,000 people/km²: a five-fold increase on Bangkok. Jakarta, while boasting the largest population of the three cities by more than one standard deviation to Bangkok and almost two standard deviations to Quezon City, features a population density of 14,502 people/km² - relatively close to the mean figure. Population density plays a critical role in determining optimal policy pathways for urban development (Cohen, 2006). Rapid urban growth and high density levels can place significant pressures

*Population, population density, and GDP data retrieved from C40 Cities

**Urban population data retrieved from the World Bank World Development Indicators

on a municipality's carrying capacity: the number of inhabitants that can be supported without excessive resource depletion and environmental degradation. Using data from the World Bank's World Development Indicators database, the significant differences in population density between the three Southeast Asian C40 members points to a corresponding need for sustainable urban development to ensure that climate change mitigation and adaptation strategies can be implemented while still maintaining an adequate quality of life for metropolitan dwellers (Campbell, 1996; Betsill and Bulkeley, 2007; Bulkeley and Cástan Broto, 2013; Hirt, 2016; Trencher et al., 2016). Different population densities, combined with relatively high natural increase rates, foster a prime opportunity for the implementation of sustainable development plans, and the impacts are not exclusive to Southeast Asian cities. Increasingly, many metropolises are at risk from the effects of anthropogenic climate change. Sea-level rise, increased natural disaster frequencies, and

decreased urban carrying capacities are but three of the many scenarios to which cities around the world must respond and adapt. Given the costs of such responses and the increasing competition for the financial and administrative resources necessary to implement mitigation and adaptation strategies, transmunicipal collaboration networks like C40 can slot into a facilitating role to offer consolidated best practices and policy pathways for local governments to follow (Betsill and Bulkeley, 2007; Bulkeley and Cástan Broto, 2013; Trencher et al., 2016).

Of further interest to both academics and policymakers will be stakeholders' perceptions of the barriers to progress in sustainable urban development. Many approaches championed by transmunicipal collaboration networks like C40 and ICLEI advocate a 'multi-level governance' approach, where local, regional, and national governments collaborate to achieve desired policy outcomes. Such an approach, while ideal, often falls prey to weaknesses in organizational capacity, vision, and delegation. Examining the extent to which such sponsored approaches are successful amongst relevant stakeholders is therefore key to understanding pathways for sustainable urban development in the Southeast Asian context.

Focusing on Bangkok, Jakarta, and Quezon City in a comparative case study fulfils a three-fold purpose. First, this study helps fill the research gap where further examination of transmunicipal collaboration network policy impacts on cities in the 'global south' and in emerging market contexts are needed. Second, I highlight whether or not population density constitutes a key factor in achieving policy gains in sustainable urban development. And third, I aim to shed light on the extent to which these networks – via policy channels - are actively facilitating the responses and adaption strategies to at-risk cities prone to the effects of climate change.

HYPOTHESES AND METHODOLOGY

The core research question of this paper focuses on a specific and measurable space within the urban development literature: to what extent do transmunicipal collaboration networks like the C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group achieve policy gains for sustainable

urban development in Southeast Asian cities of varying population densities? In this context, I utilize the C40 Cities network as a proxy for 'transmunicipal collaboration networks', given its prominence, documented efficacy, and relevance to sustainable urban development researchers. 'Policy gains', meanwhile, are operationalized in two distinct ways:

- (A) The number of proposed, pending, and passed municipal bills or legislative acts targeting any of the initiatives listed in Table 1, and
- (B) The perceived extent to which municipal bills or legislative acts, if passed, impact urban development within a given target city.

The municipalities I examine in this study are three Southeast Asian cities with a cumulative population exceeding 18 million people and whose population densities vary significantly (C40 Cities): Bangkok, Jakarta, and Quezon City.

I examine the impact of the C40 Cities network through three key hypotheses centered on proposed, pending, and passed municipal bills or legislative acts in three target Southeast Asian cities:

H¹: Transmunicipal collaboration networks increase the number of proposed and passed municipal bills or legislative acts targeting sustainable urban development for its Southeast Asian member cities.

 H^2 : Transmunicipal collaboration networks facilitate a greater number of proposed and passed municipal bills targeting sustainable urban development in Southeast Asian member cities with relatively low population densities.

 H^3 : Through municipal bills and legislative acts, transmunicipal collaboration networks are perceived to increase a Southeast Asian municipality's efficacy in improving sustainable urban development efforts.

A mixed-methods strategy will facilitate insightful understanding of C40 Cities' municipality-level impacts on sustainable urban development via policy gains. From a quantitative perspective, I conduct a series of t-tests to highlight the number of proposed, pending, and passed municipal bills or legislative acts targeting the C40 urban development-related initiatives listed in Table 1. Using available municipal policy inventories from 2000-2017, I demonstrate policy gains in each of the three target Southeast Asian cities within two key contexts: a pre- and during-C40 membership state, as well as efforts that have taken place since the city joined the C40 network. The data retrieved from local governments will indicate the policy efforts that feature C40 involvement, where applicable; this can come in the form of case study references, practitioner connections, or best practice sharing. The use of t-tests indicates differences in the intensity of policy gains over time, which could represent an aspect of the C40 network's progress in a Southeast Asian context since its inception in 2005.

A qualitative approach is also used to complement the quantitative methodology and offset its susceptibility to short-time horizons and the impacts of multiple stakeholders. Given the challenge of sourcing accurate record-keeping of municipal policy inventories, the available data from the three target cities may not necessarily reflect the latest set of policy efforts. Therefore, I also conduct semi-structured interviews involving C40 representatives and municipal officials in Bangkok, Jakarta, and Quezon City to ascertain the perceived effectiveness of C40-facilitated policy efforts in fostering sustainable urban development.

Where applicable, I also undertake an analysis of selected municipal bills or legislative acts that intend to impact sustainable urban development under any combination of the C40 initiative categories in Table 1. Lastly, should enough data be available in third-party carbon emissions and activity databases - including those of CDP and the carbon*n*

Climate Registry - to highlight further efforts within the target Southeast Asian cities, I run regressions where applicable to highlight key trends in emissions reduction and the variation in C40 involvement over time. The two latter methodologies, while not designated as primary options in my attempt to answer the three hypotheses, serve as complementary indicators of the transmunicipal collaboration impact on sustainable urban development.

Given the short time-horizon since the inception of the C40 Cities network and its particular involvement in the Southeast Asian region, it will be difficult to accurately measure its impacts on policy gains on sustainable urban development, at least from a purely quantitative aspect. However, through a combination of both quantitative and qualitative methodologies, I expect to find some degree of confirmation for all three hypotheses presented in this paper. Based on a young literature that points towards C40's gains in facilitating best practices for sustainable urban development at a global level and the impending need for sustainable growth in growing Southeast Asian cities, the C40 impact-to-date could spark a wave of urban policies directed at reducing carbon footprints while maintaining an adequate quality of life for municipal residents. If this expectation holds, the findings will proffer practical implications for continued C40 and transmunicipal collaborative network involvement in rapidly-growing cities faced with the increasing need for sustainable urban development.

WORK PLAN AND DEADLINES

Over the course of the 2017-2018 academic year, I outline below the following deadlines and their accompanying deliverables for communication to my relevant thesis supervisor(s):

August 31, 2017

Submit thesis report final draft

September-October 2017

- Begin collecting policy data (e.g. bills proposed and passed) across the three target cities
- Finalize survey questions for local government representatives and C40 officers
- Collect contact information for local government representatives and C40 officers

- Reach out to survey target participants, ascertain interest in their input
- Share survey questions with local government representatives and C40 officers
- Finalize literature review section

November-December 2017

- Collect survey data from local government representatives and C40 officers
- Organize and review data, ascertain differences between qualitative (e.g. responses) and quantitative (e.g. policy efforts) entries
- Continue collating policy data in the form of bills proposed and passed

January-February 2018

- Conduct follow-up questions if necessary with local government representatives and C40 officers
- Finalize methodology section and begin analysis of results
- Submit drafts of literature review and methodology sections to supervisor(s) for review

March-April 2018

- Continue analysis of results and conduct further data processing where necessary
- Submit drafts of results analysis to supervisor(s) as necessary

May-June 2018

- · Finalize draft sections of the thesis, with supervisor review
- · Format thesis document according to relevant standards and guidelines

WORKS CONSULTED

- Aust, Helmut Philipp. "Shining Cities on the Hill? The Global City, Climate Change, and International Law." European Journal of International Law 26, no. 1 (February 1, 2015): 255–78. doi: 10.1093/ejil/chv011.
- Bastianoni, Simone, Federico Maria Pulselli, and Enzo Tiezzi. "The Problem of Assigning Responsibility for Greenhouse Gas Emissions." Ecological Economics 49, no. 3 (July 1, 2004): 253–57. doi:10.1016/j.ecolecon.2004.01.018.

Betsill, Michele, and Harriet Bulkeley. "Looking Back and Thinking Ahead: A Decade of Cities and Climate Change Research." Local Environment 12, no. 5 (October 1, 2007): 447–56. doi: 10.1080/13549830701659683.

- Bouteligier, Sofie. "Inequality in New Global Governance Arrangements: The North–South Divide in Transnational Municipal Networks." Innovation: The European Journal of Social Science Research 26, no. 3 (September 1, 2013): 251–67. doi:10.1080/13511610.2013.771890.
- Brugmann, Jeb. Welcome to the Urban Revolution : How Cities Are Changing the World. St. Lucia, Queensland: University of Queensland Press, 2009. http://trove.nla.gov.au/version/44559496.
- Bulkeley, Harriet, and Vanesa Castán Broto. "Government by Experiment? Global Cities and the Governing of Climate Change." Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers 38, no. 3 (July 1, 2013): 361–75. doi:10.1111/j.1475-5661.2012.00535.x.
- C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group. "Bangkok: City Snapshot." C40 Cities, August 2, 2017. http:// www.c40.org/cities/bangkok.

"Jakarta: City Snapshot." C40 Cities, August 2, 2017. http://www.c40.org/cities/jakarta.
 "Quezon City: City Snapshot." C40 Cities, August 2, 2017. http://www.c40.org/cities/quezon-city.

- Campbell, Scott. "Green Cities, Growing Cities, Just Cities?: Urban Planning and the Contradictions of Sustainable Development." Journal of the American Planning Association 62, no. 3 (September 30, 1996): 296–312. doi:10.1080/01944369608975696.
- Cohen, Barney. "Urbanization in Developing Countries: Current Trends, Future Projections, and Key Challenges for Sustainability." Technology in Society, Sustainable Cities, 28, no. 1 (January 1, 2006): 63–80. doi:10.1016/j.techsoc.2005.10.005.
- CNN, Kevin Liptak and Jim Acosta. "Trump on Paris Accord: 'We're Getting Out'." CNN. Accessed July 2, 2017. http://www.cnn.com/2017/06/01/politics/trump-paris-climate-decision/index.html.
- Dodman, David. "Blaming Cities for Climate Change? An Analysis of Urban Greenhouse Gas Emissions Inventories." Environment and Urbanization 21, no. 1 (April 1, 2009): 185–201. doi: 10.1177/0956247809103016.
- Dowding, Keith, and Richard Feiock. "Intralocal Competition and Cooperation." In The Oxford Handbook of Urban Politics, 29–50. New York, NY: Oxford University Press, 2015.

Eaton, Kent. "Political Obstacles to Decentralization: Evidence from Argentina and the Philippines." Development and Change 32, no. 1 (January 1, 2001): 101–27. doi: 10.1111/1467-7660.00198.

- European Commission. "Paris Agreement." Text. Climate Action European Commission, November 23, 2016. https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/international/negotiations/paris_en.
- Fünfgeld, Hartmut. "Facilitating Local Climate Change Adaptation through Transnational Municipal Networks." Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, Sustainability governance and transformation, 12 (February 1, 2015): 67–73. doi:10.1016/j.cosust.2014.10.011.

- Green, Keith. "Decentralization and Good Governance: The Case of Indonesia." MPRA Paper, February 28, 2005. https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/18097/.
- Guess, George M. "Comparative Decentralization Lessons from Pakistan, Indonesia, and the Philippines." Public Administration Review 65, no. 2 (March 1, 2005): 217–30. doi:10.1111/j. 1540-6210.2005.00446.x.
- Hirt, Sonia A. "The City Sustainable: Three Thoughts on 'Green Cities, Growing Cities, Just Cities." Journal of the American Planning Association 82, no. 4 (October 1, 2016): 383–84. doi: 10.1080/01944363.2016.1213656.
- Hoornweg, Daniel, Lorraine Sugar, and Claudia Lorena Trejos Gómez. "Cities and Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Moving Forward." Environment and Urbanization 23, no. 1 (April 1, 2011): 207–27. doi:10.1177/0956247810392270.
- ICLEI Local Governments for Sustainability. "Cities for Climate Protection (CCP) Campaign." ICLEI Local Governments for Sustainability, 2009. http://archive.iclei.org/index.php?id=10829.
- Keil, Roger, and Mark Whitehead. "Cities and the Politics of Sustainability." In The Oxford Handbook of Urban Politics, 520–41. New York, NY: Oxford University Press, 2015.
- Kennedy, Christopher, Julia Steinberger, Barrie Gasson, Yvonne Hansen, Timothy Hillman, Miroslav Havránek, Diane Pataki, Aumnad Phdungsilp, Anu Ramaswami, and Gara Villalba Mendez.
 "Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Global Cities." Environmental Science & Technology 43, no. 19 (October 1, 2009): 7297–7302. doi:10.1021/es900213p.
- Kim, Euijune, Geoffrey Hewings, and Kyung-Min Nam. "Optimal Urban Population Size: National vs Local Economic Efficiency." Urban Studies 51, no. 2 (February 1, 2014): 428–45. doi: 10.1177/0042098013489737.
- Lee, Taedong, and Chris Koski. "Mitigating Global Warming in Global Cities: Comparing Participation and Climate Change Policies of C40 Cities." Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis: Research and Practice 16, no. 5 (October 20, 2014): 475–92. doi: 10.1080/13876988.2014.910938.
- Lefebvre, Henri. "Le droit à la ville." L'Homme et la société 6, no. 1 (1967): 29–35. doi:10.3406/ homso.1967.1063.
- Legaspi, Perla E. "THE CHANGING ROLE OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT UNDER A DECENTRALIZED STATE: The Case of the Philippines." Public Management Review 3, no. 1 (January 1, 2001): 131–39. doi:10.1080/14616670010009405.
- Nelson, Michael H. "Thailand: Problems with Decentralization?" In Thailand's New Politics: KPI Yearbook 2001, 219–81. Nonthaburi and Bangkok, Thailand: King Prajadhipok's Institute and White Lotus Press, 2002.
- Pierre, Jon, and B. Guy Peters. "Urban Governance." In The Oxford Handbook of Urban Politics, 71– 86. New York, NY: Oxford University Press, 2015.
- Popovich, Nadja, and Tatiana Schlossberg. "How Cities and States Reacted to Trump's Decision to Exit the Paris Climate Deal." The New York Times, June 2, 2017, sec. Climate. https:// www.nytimes.com/interactive/2017/06/02/climate/trump-paris-mayors.html.
- Román, Mikael. "Governing from the Middle: The C40 Cities Leadership Group." Corporate Governance: The International Journal of Business in Society 10, no. 1 (2010): 73–84.
- Sapotichne, Joshua, and Bryan D. Jones. "Setting City Agendas: Power and Policy Change." In The Oxford Handbook of Urban Politics, 442–67. New York, NY: Oxford University Press, 2015.

- Satterthwaite, David. "Cities' Contribution to Global Warming: Notes on the Allocation of Greenhouse Gas Emissions." Environment and Urbanization 20, no. 2 (October 1, 2008): 539–49. doi: 10.1177/0956247808096127.
- Shear, Michael D. "Trump Will Withdraw U.S. From Paris Climate Agreement." The New York Times, June 1, 2017, sec. Climate. https://www.nytimes.com/2017/06/01/climate/trump-paris-climateagreement.html.
- Stren, Richard. "Cities and Politics in the Developing World: Why Decentralization Matters." In The Oxford Handbook of Urban Politics, 567–89. New York, NY: Oxford University Press, 2015.
- Tabuchi, Hiroko, and Henry Fountain. "Bucking Trump, These Cities, States and Companies Commit to Paris Accord." The New York Times, June 1, 2017, sec. Climate. https://www.nytimes.com/ 2017/06/01/climate/american-cities-climate-standards.html.
- Tan, Eugene K. B. "The ASEAN Charter as Legs to Go Places: Ideational Norms and Pragmatic Legalism in Community Building in Southeast Asia." Singapore Year Book of International Law 12 (2008): 171.
- Thatcher, Mark, and Alex Stone Sweet. "Theory and Practice of Delegation to Non-Majoritarian Institutions." In The Politics of Delegation. United Kingdom: Frank Cass and Company Limited, 2003.
- Trencher, Gregory, Vanesa Castán Broto, Tomoko Takagi, Zoe Sprigings, Yuko Nishida, and Masaru Yarime. "Innovative Policy Practices to Advance Building Energy Efficiency and Retrofitting: Approaches, Impacts and Challenges in Ten C40 Cities." Environmental Science & Policy 66 (December 2016): 353–65. doi:10.1016/j.envsci.2016.06.021.
- UN-DESA, and Worldometers. "Population of South-Eastern Asia (2017)." Worldometers, August 6, 2017. http://www.worldometers.info/world-population/south-eastern-asia-population/.
- UNDP. "Table 1: Human Development Index and Its Components." UNDP Human Development Reports, 2016. http://hdr.undp.org/en/composite/HDI.
- Walker, Alissa. "331 Mayors Adopt Paris Climate Accord after U.S. Pulls out (Updated)." Curbed, June 1, 2017. https://www.curbed.com/2017/6/1/15726376/paris-accord-climate-change-mayors-trump.
- World Bank. "World Development Indicators | Databank." Databank, August 2, 2017. http:// databank.worldbank.org/data/reports.aspx?source=world-development-indicators.
- World Resources Institute. "6 Graphs Explain the World's Top 10 Emitters." World Resources Institute, November 2014. https://wri.org/blog/2014/11/6-graphs-explain-world%E2%80%99s-top-10emitters.